DROUGHT STRESS RESPONSE IN LONG STORAGE TOMATOES: MORPHOLOGICAL, PHYSIOLOGICAL, YIELD AND QUALITY TRAITS

RICCARDI MARIA

PhD THESIS – SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY OF FOOD-AGRICULTURE PRODUCTION XXVI CICLE



University of Naples FEDERICO II



TUTOR: PROF. GIANCARLO BARBIERI CO-TUTOR: DR. ROSSELLA ALBRIZIO COORDINATOR: PROF. GIANCARLO BARBIERI

Academic year 2014-2015

To Ale, my little man, my heart, my life and my soul

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pre	face	ii
Lis	t of figures	iii
Lis	t of tables	iv
Lis	t of symbols and abbreviations	v
Ab	stract	1
1.	STATE OF THE ART	
	1.1. Plant water relations and mechanisms of drought tolerance	2
	1.2. Drought effects on physiological functions	3
	1.3. Chemical and hydraulic signalling under drought stress	
	1.4. Effect of drought on yield and quality	5
	1.5. Long-storage tomato	5
2.	AIMS OF THE STUDY.	7
3.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	
	3.1. Experimental Setup	
	3.2. Treatments	
	3.3. Measurements	
	3.3.1. Determination of SWC	
	3.3.2. Physiological measurements	
	3.3.2.1. Leaf gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence	
	3.3.2.2. Plant water status	9
	3.3.2.2.1. Determination of leaf RWC	9
	3.3.2.2.2. Determination of ψ_{leaf}	9
	3.3.3. Biochemical measurements.	
	3.3.3.1. ABA determination	9
	3.3.3.2. Proline determination	9
	3.3.4. Growth measurements	
	3.3.5. Yield determination	10
	3.3.6. Quality parameters of tomato fruits	11
	3.3.6.1. Sample preparation	11
	3.3.6.1.1. Chromatic parameters	11
	3.3.6.1.2. Biometric parameters	
	3.3.6.1.3. Physicochemical traits	11
	3.3.6.1.3.1. Reducing sugars	
	3.3.6.1.3.2. Vitamin C	
	3.3.6.1.3.3. Lycopene and β-carotene	
	3.3.6.1.3.4. Total phenols	
	3.3.6.1.3.5. Antioxidant activity determination	13
	3.4. Statistical analysis	
4.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	14
	4.1. Effect of drought stress and re-watering on SWC	14
	4.2. Effect of soil water deficit and re-watering on leaf gas exchange	14
	4.3. Effects of soil water deficit and re-watering on leaf ABA accumulation	17
	4.4. Effects of soil water deficit and re-watering on leaf water status and proline accumulation	19
	4.5. Growth and morphology	
	4.6. Effect of drought on yield characteristics	
	4.7. Effect of drought on physicochemical traits of tomato fruits	
	4.8. Effect of drought on some antioxidant contents of tomato fruits	
5.	CONCLUSIONS	
6.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
7.	REFERENCES	

Preface

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree at University of Naples, Federico II, Faculty of Agriculture, Italy.

The PhD project consisted in an experiment conducted in a greenhouse of the Faculty of Agriculture, University of Naples located in Portici and it was part of the CISIA project (Integrate knowledge for sustainability and innovation of the agro-food made in Italy) of the Italian National Research Council.

The PhD program was carried out in collaboration between Faculty of Agriculture of the University of Naples and CNR-ISAFoM (Italian National Research Council - Institute for Mediterranean Agriculture and Forest Systems).

During the PhD program were collected the following research products:

- n°13 manuscripts on ISI (International Scientific Indexing) journals;
- n°1 manuscript on Scopus journal;
- n°2 book chapters;
- n°12 abstracts/posters/oral dissertations in international conferences;
- n°10 abstracts/posters/oral dissertations in national conferences;
- n°1 registered software.

Lists of figures

- Figure 2 A schematic diagram showing the photosynthesis reduction under drought stress (from Farooq et al., 2009).....4

- **Figure 5** Responses to stomatal conductance (g_s) to drying-rewetting alternation. Blue dots refer to well-watered plants (ww) and red dots to drought plants (ds) of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Vertical bars are LSD values (P $\leq=0.05$) for treatments and genotypes comparisons at a given day of treatments. The duration of re-watering phases (1st and 2nd rw) were indicated by lines below the figure......15

- **Figure 10** Response to leaf water potential (ψ_{leaf}) to drying-rewetting alternation of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Colored bars refers to well-watered treatments (ww), instead transparent bars to drought treatments (ds). Different letters indicate significant different values for P ≤ 0.05 within each day of treatment for treatments x genotypes interaction. Above the figure are reported the indication of the number of drought stress cycles (1st ds and 2nd ds) and re-watering phases (1s^t rw and 2nd rw)......19

Lists of tables

Lists of symbols and abbreviations

ABA	abscissic acid
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AsA	ascorbic acid
C_a	carbon dioxide concentration in the Li-6400 leaf chamber
CEC	cation exchange capacity
DHA	dehydroascorbic acid
ds	drought stressed plants
DW	dry weight
t _{ds1}	end of the 1 st drought stress period
t _{rw1}	end of the 1st re-watering period
t _{ds2}	end of the 2 nd drought stress period
t _{rw2}	end of the 2 nd re-watering period
F.C.	field capacity
FW	fresh weight
FBPase	fructose-1.6-bisphosphatase
F_{θ}	initial/minimal fluorescence
C_i	intercellular carbon dioxide concentration
LA	leaf area
RWC	leaf relative water content
Ψ_{leaf}	leaf water potential
Fm	maximal fluorescence
Fv/Fm	maximum quantum yield of PSII
NADP-ME	NADP-malic enzyme
A	net photosynthetic rate
PEPCase	phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase
PS I	photosystem I
PS II	photosystem II
PPDK	pyruvate orthophosphate dikinase
ROS	reactive oxygen species
rw	re-watering
RuBisCo	ribulose-1.5 -bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase
Root/shoot	root to shoot ratio
SWC	soil water content
g_s	stomatal conductance
TS	total solids
TSS	total soluble solids
TW	turgid weight
Fv	variable fluorescence
WW	well-watered plants or control plants
W.P.	wilting point

ABSTRACT

Long-storage tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) is a product cultivated in the Mediterranean area whose fruits combine a good taste and extended shelf-life to excellent nutritional properties. Furthermore, due to the high drought tolerance of the plant, traditionally cultivated under no water supply, long-storage tomato may represent an interesting genetic source in breeding programs for water stress resistance in both fresh-market and processing tomatoes. It could be considered useful for the environmental sustainability and cultivation in countries with hot and dry climate where the deficiency of water for irrigation purposes strongly limits the agriculture.

The aim of this work was to identify the main adaptive physiological and morphological mechanisms that regulate the maintenance of the plant's activity under drought conditions and the effects on quantitative and qualitative aspects of the production.

The study was carried out in a greenhouse of the Faculty of Agriculture, University of Naples Federico II, during the 2012 season. Two long storage tomato landraces (Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina) collected at CNR-ISAFoM of Catania with indeterminate growth, were used. A processing tomato cultivar (Brigade) was also considered as control. Five weeks-old seedlings were transplanted into plastic pots, at the 4th true leaf stage. The plants were watered daily to container capacity prior to starting the treatments. Plants before flowering were submitted to two different treatments. Control plants were irrigated daily and drought stressed plants received no water until stomata conductance reached value near to zero. Recovery of plants was carried out by re-irrigation of pots daily. So during the experiment two periods of drought stress and subsequent re-watering were considered. For both stressed and control plants were evaluated leaf gas exchange parameters, leaf abscissic acid (ABA) and proline content, plant water status aspects, growth behavior, yield components and qualitative characteristics of the fruits.

Based on the physiological study. Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina maintained higher values of the leaf photosynthetic rate (A) with fewer reductions in stomatal conductance (g_s) respect to Brigade and they showed a rapid and full recovery of all gas exchange parameters after re-watering suggesting a good tolerance to water stress. The rates of change in g_s , with ABA content were greater for Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina respect to Brigade and was cause of the early stomatal closure during drought, limiting further water loss and subsequent damages. Leaf water status was affected by drought with lower values recorded in Brigade that accumulate in the leaves higher proline contents.

Drought caused a reduction in plant growth parameters of all genotypes also if the magnitudes of the changes were greater for Brigade than Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina. Furthermore, water stress increased root length and the root to shoot ratio and together decrease the specific leaf area (SLA) in Pizzutello di Sciacca in order to diminish water consumption and increase absorption of water. Highest total yield reduction was recorded in Brigade correlated to a reduced fruit number per plants and lower fruits weight. Fruit firmness was significantly improved in the absence of irrigation in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina respect to Brigade. Fruit thinning has been proposed as a feasible strategy to compensate the loss in fruit size caused by water stress. Drought produced solid soluble solids (TSS), total solids, reducing sugars, vitamin C and total phenols contents increase in the fruits of all genotypes with higher rates in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina. In addition a higher β -carotene content was found in fruits of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina.

In conclusion, Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina were characterized by less severe decline in physiological, growth and yield parameters and greater improvement of fruit quality under drought conditions. They had more efficient stress protection mechanisms to survive under drought conditions.

1. STATE OF THE ART

Faced with scarcity of water resources, drought is the single most critical threat to world food security. It was the catalyst of the great famines of the past. Because the world's water supply is limiting, future food demand for rapidly increasing population pressures is likely to further aggravate the effects of drought (Somerville and Briscoe, 2001). The severity of drought is unpredictable as it depends on many factors such as occurrence and distribution of rainfall, evaporative demands and moisture storing capacity of soils (Wery et al., 1994).

Under the climatic changing context, drought has been, and is becoming an acute problem most constraining plant growth, terrestrial ecosystem productivity, in many regions all over the world, particularly in arid and semi-arid area (Knapp et al., 2001; Fischlin et al., 2007).

Based on the fourth assessment report by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change global surface average temperature will have a 1.1-6.4 °C range increase by the end of this century. With global warming, it is expected that water deficit would be escalated by increasing evapotranspiration, increasing the frequency and intensity of drought with an increase from 1% to 30% in extreme drought land area by 2100 (Fischlin et al., 2007).

The degree of drought effects on plants depends on the impact on plant physiological, biochemical, as well as molecular biological process and the ability of plant to adapt in these conditions (Bulbotko, 1973; Atkinson et al., 2000; Massonnet et al., 2007).

Plants express various responses to drought stress and develop a wide range of mechanisms (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006; Ahuja et al., 2010; Skirycz and Inze, 2010; Osakabe et al., 2011; Nishiyama et al., 2013; Ha et al., 2014).

1.1. Plant water relations and mechanisms of drought tolerance

Water movement through a plant is a passive process, where it is driven by water potential differences between the soil, plant and atmosphere and the hydraulic conductivities between each component (Lobet *et al.*, 2014). Water moves from high water potential to a lower potential. Plants absorb water from soil through roots and absorbed water moves to xylem vessels through radial water movement. After entering to xylem vessels, water moves from roots to leaves through the xylem and release to atmosphere as water vapor through stomata (Fig. 1).



Figure 1 - A schematic diagram showing water movement through a plant (from Lobet et al., 2014). A. Water movement inside the plant. B. Axial water movement in xylem vessels. C. Radial water movement in roots.

Plants prefer adequate water supply for functioning. However, under drought conditions, create high water pressure difference between soil and plant roots initially and it continues towards canopy with the progression of the stress. This is not favorable to its normal functioning. Plants have different adaptive mechanisms to overcome drought stress: escape (drought escape), avoidance (drought avoidance) and tolerance (drought tolerance)

Drought escape is the ability of a plant to complete its life cycle before the onset of drought and to undergo dormancy before the onset of the dry season. It is a general phenomenon in some desert plants, which exhibit extremely short life cycles and produce seeds during short rainy seasons in order to save them from extinction (Levitt, 1980). Some extremely short duration crops and even genotypes within a species exhibit drought escape, but this always taxes yield (Turner et al., 2001). Drought escape is more advantageous where chances of terminal drought are more frequent; as short-duration cultivars frequently escape terminal drought compared with late maturing cultivars (Meyre et al., 2001).

Drought avoidance, instead, is the ability of a plant to sustain high plant water status or cellular hydration under drought. Plants accomplish this mechanism either by catching more water from the soil or by minimizing water loss through transpiration (Blum, 2005).

Plants undergo certain morphological and physiological changes to minimize stress-induced losses; and considerable flexibility among crop species and even within species exists. Reduced biomass is a common phenomenon under drought; however, the extent of the reduction varies as different plant organs are affected by drought.

Crops plants more able to extract water from the entire soil profile can better resist drought. Root plasticity is the ability of a genotype to regulate its root growth pattern in accordance with prevailing constraints (Yamauchi et al., 1996).

More rooting depth, root proliferation, and root length density commensurate with fetching more water are considered drought avoidance traits (Matsui and Singh, 2003; Wang and Yamauchi, 2006). A more prolific and deeper root system is imperative under drought as roots are the only organ capable of extracting water from the soil profile (Kavar et al., 2007; Gowda et al., 2011). Genotypes with more root growth in stress-prone environments are preferred.

Drought stress can inhibit root growth in general, even in tolerant genotypes, but the effect was more prominent on sensitive genotypes due to an overall decrease in newly synthesized cell wall polysaccharides such as pectins, hemicelluloses, and cellulose (Piro et al., 2003).

Generally, when water availability is limited, the root to shoot ratio (root/shoot) of plants increases because roots are less sensitive than shoots to growth inhibition by low water potentials (Wu and Cosgrove, 2000).

Reduced leaf size is well correlated with drought stress; many xerophytes have small leaves as their adaptation to survive in harsh environments. A small leaf area (LA) is advantageous to restricted water use and it is also responsible for low productivity of crops (Sinclair and Muchow, 2001) but different crops or genotypes behave differently.

Reduced transpiration water loss is another important adaptation of drought avoidance. To attain that, plants have developed several morphological adaptations such as higher root-shoot ratios with fewer and smaller leaves to withstand water deficit conditions by maintaining water budget with higher uptake and minimal loss (Lei et al., 2006). Increased stomatal and cuticular resistance, less small stomata, smaller LA, and vertical leaf orientation are among the major drought avoidance traits to minimize transpiration in order to save water under stress conditions (Sinclair and Muchow, 2001; Wang and Yamauchi, 2006). However, reduced LA and plant stature are advantageous for restricted water use but may also result in low productivity of crop plants (Sinclair and Muchow, 2001).

On the other hand, in drought tolerance strategy, plant endures drought without undergoing injury, retaining the capacity of normal growth and development when rehydrated. In tolerance, plants mitigate the stress by maintaining high water potential through accumulation of compatible osmotic solutes. The accumulation of compatible solutes (amino acids, glycine betaine, sugars, or sugar alcohols, proline) is well regarded as a basic strategy for the protection and survival of plants under abiotic stress conditions (Chen et al., 2007).

The osmotic adjustment allows cell enlargement and plant growth during severe drought stress, and allows stomata to remain partially open and CO_2 assimilation to continue during drought stress (Hare et al. 1998). Apart from playing a primary role of turgor maintenance, these compatible solutes may also be involved in stabilizing proteins and cell structures.

Of these solutes, proline is the most widely studied because of its considerable importance in the stress tolerance. Proline accumulation is the first response of plants exposed to water-deficit stress in order to reduce injury to cells.

Proline can act as a signaling molecule to modulate mitochondrial functions, influence cell proliferation or cell death and trigger specific gene expression, which can be essential for plant recovery from stress (Szabados and Savoure, 2009). Accumulation of proline under stress in many plant species has been correlated with stress tolerance, and its concentration has been shown to be generally higher in stress-tolerant than in stress-sensitive plants. It influences protein solvation and preserves the quarternary structure of complex proteins, maintains membrane integrity under dehydration stress and reduces oxidation of lipid membranes or photoinhibition (Demiral and Turkan, 2004). Furthermore, it also contributes to stabilizing sub-cellular structures, scavenging free radicals, and buffering cellular redox potential under stress conditions (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007).

1.2. Drought effects on physiological functions

Plant water potential influences physiological functions of plants, including photosynthesis, transpiration, stomatal conductance (Chaves et al., 2002; Blanke and Cooke, 2004; Flexas et al., 2004).

With optimal water supply, plants functions, such as photosynthesis, transpiration and stomatal conductance, happen well. Moreover, continuous water supply allows high transpiration and low leaf to air water vapor pressure difference (VPD). Low VPD, under drought stress, reduces photosynthesis (Brunce, 1988). In tomatoes, high transpiration rates reduce photosynthetic capacity and induce drought stress (Blanke and Cooke, 2004). Large water potential gradients between the xylem and the site of evaporation (leaves) result in reduced photosynthesis (Sharkey, 1984, Blanke and Cooke, 2004). It was observed that the net photosynthetic rate (*A*) and transpiration rate declined with an increase in drought stress (Teraza et al., 1999; Rao et al., 2000; Flexas et al., 2004).

Hui Lian (1997) carried out an experiment with greenhouse tomato cv. Capello in a peat moss-based substrate (70% sphagnum peat + 30% perlite, (v/v)) subjected to low soil water content (SWC) to observe the effects of a prolonged substrate water deficit on photosynthesis and plant water relations. Net photosynthetic rate (*A*) decreased by 24% compared with the control one day after SWC was depleted to 55%.

Under drought stress, stomata close and this affects CO_2 flux. Stomatal closure is one of the first responses to drought stress (Hommel et al., 2014; Xie et al., 2014). Stomata close when plant water potential reduces or if the leaf turgor reduces. The response limits CO_2 exchange in leaves (Chaves et al., 2002) and the rate of photosynthesis decreases. Photosynthetic system in plants depends on the availability of CO_2 , especially in photosystem II (PSII). Under drought stress, the primary reason of the decline in *A* is the CO_2 deficiency (Meyer et al., 1998). The closure of stomata under drought stress leads to the decrease in intracellular CO_2 levels (*C_i*), which in turns results in over-reduction of electron transport chain

components. Thus, the electrons are transferred to oxygen at photosystem I (PSI) generating reactive oxygen species [ROS, (Mahajan and Tutja, 2005)]. Water deficiency also results in decreasing of ribulose-1.5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RuBisCo), phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase (PEPCase), NADP-malic enzyme (NADP-ME), fructose-1.6-bisphosphatase (FBPase) and pyruvate orthophosphate dikinase (PPDK) (Bota et al., 2004). On the other hand, plant tissue water potential is reduced by drought. Both ROS production and reduced activity of enzymes lower the carboxylation. Further, drought causes a down-regulation of non-cyclic electron transport, which negatively affects ATP synthesis. Because of low carboxylation and low ATP levels, photosynthesis drops under drought conditions (Fig. 2) (Farooq et al., 2009).



Figure 2 - A schematic diagram showing the photosynthesis reduction under drought stress (from Farooq et al., 2009).

As drought stress progresses, it reduces the leaf water potential $((\Psi_{leaf}))$ and stomatal conductance (Medrano et al., 2002; Bota et al., 2004; Flexas et al., 2004; Miyashita et al., 2005). Blanke and Cooke (2004) found that the Ψ_{leaf} reduced under severe drought stress, but Miyashita et al. (2005) discovered that the Ψ_{leaf} stayed constant for a period after the onset of water and then reduced rapidly.

Furthermore, the recovery after re-watering declined gradually when the drought stress progressed. Reduction of Ψ_{leaf} with stress also affected leaf relative water content [RWC (Teraza et al., 1999; Bota et al., 2004; Turkan et al., 2005].

1.3. Chemical and hydraulic signalling under drought stress

Root-to-leaf signalling is one of the mechanisms used by crops to regulate stomatal closure under drought conditions (Schachtman and Goodger, 2008; Wilkinson and Davies, 2002). This signal has been shown to be the abscissic acid (ABA), which is synthesized in the roots (Davies and Zhang, 1991) and is translocated via the xylem stream to the leaves, where it causes the closure of stomata (Zhang et al., 1987; Davies and Zhang, 1991). Another source of ABA is the leaves (Taylor, 1991) where it is synthesized and loaded into the phloem, transported to the roots and is either deposited in root tissues or re-circulated to the leaves (Hartung et al., 2002). This drought induced root-to-leaf signaling through the transpiration stream results in stomatal closure, which is an important adaptation to limited water supply in the field. When a plant is subjected to drought, there is an increase in ABA biosynthesis, leading to elevated ABA levels in the tissues (Plant et al., 1991). The increase in the ABA concentration in leaves results in stomatal closure and minimal water loss from the plant. However, the stomatal closure reduces photosynthesis (Bray, 1988; Plant et al. 1991; Zegzouti et al., 1997). High ABA concentration in root tips was observed in plants subjected to drought stress (-1.6 MPa) (Sharp and LeNoble, 2002). Bray (1988) studied the role of ABA in drought, using an ABA deficient tomato. In optimal growth conditions, ABA concentration in this mutant was 50% of the wild type plant. When both the wild type and mutant were exposed to drought stress, there was a significant increase in the synthesis of ABA in the wild type but reduced in the mutant. It was recorded that the ABA concentration of the mutant under drought stress was 6% of its ABA concentration grown under optimal conditions. In addition to chemical signalling by ABA, control of stomatal conductance (g_s) may also occur through hydraulic signalling, such as Ψ_{leaf} and xylem hydraulic conductivity (Nardini et al., 2003). Such a signal is induced by the difference in water potential somewhere in the plant, meaning that when the availability of water in the soil diminishes, the gradient-driven uptake of water ceases and the internal water potential in the root decreases. This effect results in a decrease in the Ψ_{leaf} resulting in stomatal closure (Wakrim et al., 2005). Chemical signals most probably dominate during early stages of stress before hydraulic signals are produced (Goodger et al., 2005), and become less important under severe drought when Ψ_{leaf} declines and leaves wilt (Christmann et al., 2007; Wakrim et al., 2005).

1.4. Effect of drought on yield and quality

Drought-induced yield reduction has been reported in many crop species, which depends upon the severity and duration of the stress period. Water deficit leads to decrease in the number of flowers and consequently the number of fruit and ultimately to less marketable yield (Losada and Rincaon, 1994; Colla et al., 1999; Rahman et al., 1999; Veit-Kohler et al., 1999). Chiaranda and Zerbi (1981) conducted an experiment with lysimeter-grown greenhouse tomatoes and observed a remarkable sensitivity of the crop to water stress during the vegetative and the flowering periods, with respect to early and late harvesting records. Doorenbos and Kassam (1979) reported that the highest demand for water in tomato plant is during flowering. Ripening is the most sensitive stage and any heterogeneous distribution of irrigation leads to fruit cracking (Losada and Rincaon, 1994). Blossom-end rot of tomatoes is a common problem occurring under conditions of water stress and heavy fruit load (Hodges and Steinegger, 1991). It appears as brown to black lathery spots of the underside/blossom end of the fruit of tomatoes, which eventually leads to decay of fruits (Sanders et al., 1989). Even a temporary water stress during early fruit enlargement can cause blossom-end rot because the fruits are the last to receive adequate calcium (Hodges and Steinegger, 1991). Franco et al. (1999) showed that at higher irrigation levels there was a high yield potential and less blossom-end rot affected fruit. Young Hah et al. (1999) found that total and marketable yields were increased by increasing soil water tension and by varying night temperature (14 ± 1 °C to 10 ± 1 °C). Fruit cracking decreased with increasing soil water tensions.

Adams (1990) observed a reduction in the size of the fruit in tomato under water stress. Lapushner et al. (1986) observed that the fruit weight of tomato was reduced by water stress.

Quality of the fruit in terms of total soluble solids, acidity (Shinohara et al., 1995; Colla et al., 1999; Veit-Kohler et al., 1999), viscosity, and vitamin C is improved by water deficit (Rudich et al., 1977; Veit-Kohler et al., 1999; Zushi and Matsuzoe, 1998). High sugar content in tomato is a desirable character, which can be achieved by decreased irrigation (Imada et al., 1989; Veit-Kohler et al., 1999). A decrease up to 20% irrigation or even lesser percentage of irrigation shows significant improvement in tomato fruit flavor components (Veit-Kohler et al., 1999), in addition accelerated development of color and increased amount of β -carotene content in cherry tomato due to water deficit is observed. Also Naotke et al. (1998) studied the effect of SWC on fruit coloring and carotene formation using four cherry tomato varieties. It was found that the soil water deficit effect on the fruit coloring was more evident during the fall cropping season than in the spring season and that the amount of β -carotene increased in case of cv. Yellow Carol.

Veit-Kohler et al. (1999) investigated whether even a small reduction in water supply (without visible symptoms of water stress) results in high fruit quality together with high marketable fruit productions. In the treatment with lower water supply plant growth, and in particular the number of fruit were decreased and the sugar and vitamin C concentrations of the fruits were significantly increased, especially during fruit ripening.

Zushi and Matsuzoe (1998) observed the effects of soil water deficit on vitamin C content varied depending on the cultivar. They found that vitamin C content increased in some cultivars whereas it remained unchanged in others. In almost all cultivars under water-stressed plants, glucose and fructose were found in higher proportions than in plants receiving full irrigation. This indicates that the soil water deficit merely reduced water accumulation by the fruits. The amount of organic acid and free amino acids both increased under water stress.

Shinohara et al. (1995) observed that water stress caused decreasing yield but increasing treatable acidity.

Lapushner et al. (1986) observed that fruit weight was reduced by water stress but marketable yield, fruit color and contents of total soluble solids (TSS) and reducing sugar were improved.

Matsuzoe et al. (1998) investigated the effects of SWC on fruit color and β -carotene content in cherry tomato cultivars: Mini Carol (red), Cherry Pink (pink), Yellow Carol (yellow), and Orange Carol (yellow-tangerine), in Japan. They observed that soil water deficit accelerated fruit coloring in spring and autumn crops of Mini Carol, and in autumn crops of Cherry Pink. Soil water deficit increased the amount of β -carotene in Yellow Carol, but had no effect on the β -carotene content of Orange Carol in spring or autumn crops.

1.5. Long-storage tomato

Long-storage tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) is a niche product typical of the Mediterranean area; in Italy, it is diffused mainly in the southern regions (Campania, Apulia, Basilicata, Calabria, Sicily), where its cultivation and consumption have been handed down for many generations. In the past, long-storage tomato had significant importance, especially because was the only source of tomatoes during the colder months of the year due to thick and elastic skin which limits fruit's dehydration and ensures a long shelf life.

Long-storage tomato, traditionally, is cultivated under no water supply, the only watering (about 300-400 m³ ha⁻¹) occurs at transplant (late March - early April) to ensure seedling rooting. This aspect, in addition to high genetic variability of these tomatoes that confer them resistance to abiotic stress, is particularly interesting for the environmental sustainability. Furthermore, long-storage tomato cultivation is interesting in arid or semi-arid countries where the irrigation water shortage severely limits the agriculture, also in consideration of the competitive use of water for civil and industrial destination.

Long-storage tomato, being cultivated with no irrigations, shows higher nutritional properties (higher antioxidant content, vitamin C, β -carotene and Lycopene) respect to well-known processing tomato cultivars.

Over the years, there has been a significant reduction of the area cultivated with long-storage tomato, caused by a lower yield (cultivation without watering) respect to irrigated processing tomato and subsequent ripening with higher labor costs.

Recently long-storage tomato has been subjected of a more careful consideration, because of the characteristic of droughtresistance that guarantee its implication in breeding programs to improve the shelf-life, the drought resistant and nutritional value of table and processing tomato cultivars.

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

Limited water resources cause severe problems in arid and semi-arid regions in terms of crop productivity. Therefore, necessity of more attention to sustainable solutions in agricultural field and performing operations to reduce the effects of this factor is very important. It should be recommended the identification of crops tolerant to water stress and with greater ability to recover after a drought period for cultivation in these areas.

Most commercial cultivars of *Lycopersicon esculentum* are sensitive to abiotic stresses during all stages of plant development. The cultivated species of tomato has a limited genetic variability due to several genetic bottlenecks during its domestication and evolution for drought tolerance. In this specie, the best source of resistance is from genotypes that are indigenous to arid and semiarid environments. Hence, this current study was carried out with the main aim of investigate on the performances of long-storage tomato under greenhouse drought stress conditions. The hypothesis of the experiment was that long-storage tomato can produce yield under extreme soil-drying conditions. The specific objectives of study were to:

- 1. examine the effect of soil-drying on stomatal conductance, photosynthesis, leaf water status, plant growth parameters;
- 2. evaluation of yield and quality responses of long-storage tomato;
- 3. identify the mechanisms used by long-storage tomato to tolerate soil-drying.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Experimental Setup

The study was conducted on two landraces of long-storage tomato, Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina, originally from Sicily, belonging to the germplasm collection of the CNR-ISAFoM of Catania (Italy). The commercial hybrid Brigade (Asgrow Italia Vegetable Seeds, Lodi, Italy) of processing tomato was also included in the experiments as control. The experiment was carried out in a greenhouse of the University of Naples located in Portici (40° 49' N, 14° 20' E, 29 m above sea level) from March to July 2012.

Tomato seeds were sown in seedlings trays on the 28th of February 2012, and transplanted 30 days later when the plants had four true leaves. Seedlings were transplanted as individuals into pots with 22 cm height, 24 cm upper diameter. Pots were filled with a silt clay loam soil, which was air dried and sieved through a 2 mm sieve. The soil had the following general characteristics: sand - 5.8%, silt - 60.2%, clay - 34.0%, field capacity (F.C.) - 38%, permanent wilting point (W.P.) - 10%, maximum water holding capacity - 52%, bulk density - 1.27g cm⁻³, pH - 6.8, organic matter - 1.14%, CEC (cation exchange capacity) - 17.9 meq/100g soil and N - 0.06%.

Before transplanting, the equivalent of 75, 100 and 100 kg ha⁻¹ of N, P and K respectively were applied to the soil as liquid fertilizer. A month after transplanting (before flowering), a further 75 kg ha⁻¹ of N were supplied.

The experiment was built up of 180 pots with 60 pots per genotype in two complete sets (30 control and 30 stressed pots for each genotype) that were arranged according to a completely randomized design.

Harvesting was started 100 days after transplanting and there were two harvests at about 15 days intervals (at beginning and mid-July). They first harvest was performed when ripe fruit rate on the first and second trusses reached about 90%. Instead, at second harvest, were considered the ripe fruits of the higher trusses.

3.2. Treatments

All pots were irrigated with water to F.C. until the stage of pre-flowering, four weeks after transplanting, after which water restriction treatment was imposed.

Half of the seedlings of each genotype (30 plants) were kept for regular watering as control plants and the remaining half were submitted to drying and re-watering cycles according to the scheme reported in Figure 3. Control plants (well-watered plants – ww) were irrigated daily in the evening, with an amount of water to replenish F.C. Instead drought stressed plants (ds) received no water for 10 days as soon as the stomatal conductance reached values near zero and plants started wilting.

Recovery of plants was carried out by re-watering (rw) of pots to F.C. for 7 days. A second cycle of drought stress was imposed by withholding irrigation for 6 days followed by a final re-watering.

Irrigation was given manually using a measuring cylinder. Careful attention was taken for homogenous application of irrigation water in the pots throughout the whole growing period of the plants.

3.3. Measurements

SWC, physiological, biochemical and biometric measurements on control and stressed plants were performed during the drying re-watering cycles (Fig. 3). Non-destructive determinations such as stomatal conductance (g_s), photosynthetic rate (A), intercellular carbon dioxide concentration (C_i), maximum quantum yield of PSII (Fv/Fm), were carried out daily. Leaf water potential (ψ_{leaf}) and abscisic acid content (ABA) were measured before stress application (0 d), at 4 day (d) and 10 d of the 1st ds at 2 d and 7 d of the 1st rw, at 2 d and 6 d of the 2nd ds and at 6 d of the 2nd rw. Leaf relative water content (RWC), proline content and growth parameters such as plant height, stem diameter, root length, dry weights (DW - roots, leaves and stems) an leaf area (LA) were determined at the end of the drought stress periods (t_{ds1} and t_{ds2}) and re-watering phases (t_{rw1} and t_{rw2}). The total yield and number of fruits was evaluated as sum of the result of both harvests. Quality parameters of tomato fruits such as biometric (fruit weight, fruit length, fruit width and fruit shape), physiochemical (firmness, skin colour, pH, treatable acidity, total soluble solids (TSS), total solids (TS), and reducing sugars) and antioxidant traits (Vitamin C, Lycopene, β -Carotene, total phenols and antioxidant activity) were carried out on the fruits of the first harvest.

3.3.1. Determination of SWC

SWC was measured twice daily before and 12 hours after that the irrigation water was applied, on four plants per each genotype and treatment using time domain reflectometry (TDR) and the Tektronix cable tester. The TDR rods (two rods per probe) were installed vertically close to the plants to measure the volumetric water content at 12 cm depth.

3.3.2. Physiological measurements

3.3.2.1. Leaf gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence

Leaf gas exchange parameters such as g_s , A and C_i were measured between 11:00 and 13:00 h (local time) by a portable photosynthesis system (model Li-6400; LiCor Inc., Lincoln, Nebraska, USA), operating as an open gas-exchange steady-state system. The measurements were took on the youngest fully expanded leaves of four different plants from each genotype and treatment.

The CO₂ concentration in the Li-6400 leaf chamber (C_a) was set to 400 µmol CO₂ mol⁻¹, the vapour pressure deficit (VPD) and leaf temperature were constant at about the same values as those measured in the surrounding atmosphere of the leaf. Chlorophyll fluorescence was determined at the same time and on the same plants used for leaf gas exchange determinations using a plant efficiency analyzer (PEA, Hansatech, Ltd.). The reading was taken on the upper most fully expanded leaf from the top of the plant. The sample leaf was dark adapted with a lightweight plastic leaf clip for 30 min before the measurement. The measurement consisted of a single strong 1-s light pulse (3000 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹). The fluorescence rise during first second of illumination to the dark-adapted samples was recorded in control unit. Fluorescence values recorded included: initial/minimal fluorescence (F_0), a measure of the stability of the light-harvesting complex; Fv/Fm, which in turn is highly correlated with the quantum yield of net photosynthesis. Where Fm is the maximal fluorescence value and Fv is variable fluorescence ($Fm - F_0$).

3.3.2.2. Plant water status

3.3.2.2.1. Determination of leaf RWC

RWC of fully expanded leaves of four different plants from each genotype was measured in both well-watered and drought stressed plants. To minimize solute leakage and cut surface effects, the entire leaf was used for this purpose. The leaf petiole was carefully cut, leaf fresh weight (FW) was recorded, and it was placed in a water-containing plastic tube in a closed container. The turgid weight (TW) was then recorded after overnight rehydration at 4 °C. For dry weight (DW) determination, samples were oven-dried at 70 °C for 48 h. RWC was calculated according to the following equation:

$$RWC (\%) = \frac{FW - DW}{TW - DW} x \ 100$$

3.3.2.2.2. Determination of ψ_{leaf}

Four leaf from different plants from each genotype and treatment were cut with a sharp blade, wrapped in a plastic bag and put in a Scholander pressure chamber (SKPM 1400; Skye Instruments Ltd., Llandrindod Wells, UK) to measure the leaf water potential (ψ_{leaf}). The pressure was gradually increased until the xylem water became visible through the cut surface of the petiole and the balancing-pressure reading was taken. Measurements were conducted between 11:00 and 13:00 h (local time).

3.3.3. Biochemical measurements

3.3.3.1. ABA determination

Leaves were harvested between 11:00 and 13:00 h (local time). Four leaves from different plants for each genotypetreatment were used. Leaves were immediately put in jars and transferred into liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until ABA extraction. Twenty milligrams of leaf (without midribs) was extracted overnight in 1.5 ml distilled water in the dark at 4 °C on a shaker. The extracts were centrifuged at 10000 x g for 25 min, and the ABA content of the supernatants was quantified in an enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using the Phytodetek-ABA kit (AGDIA, Elkhart, IN, USA), according to the indications of the manufacturer. All assays were made in triplicate. The hormone concentrations were calculated using a standard curve of ABA and the relative optical density, according to the ELISA technique.

3.3.3.2. Proline determination

Proline content was determined according to the method described by Clausen et al. (2005). Briefly, four fully expanded leaves from both treatments of each genotype were collected at 11:00 h (local time). Leaf samples of 1 g FW were ground in a mortar after the addition of liquid nitrogen and of 10 mL of a 3% (w/v) aqueous sulfosalicylic acid solution. The homogenate was filtered through two layers of glass-fibre filter (Schleicher & Schull, GF 6, Germany), and the clear filtrate was then used in the assay. 1 mL of glacial acetic acid and 1 mL of ninhydrin reagent (2.5 g ninhydrin/100 mL of a solution containing glacial acetic acid, distilled water and ortho-phosphoric acid 85% at a ratio of 6:3:1) were added to 1 mL of the filtrate. The closed test tubes with the reaction mixture were kept in a boiling water bath for 1 h at 100 °C, and the reaction was terminated at room temperature (21 °C) for 5 min. Readings were taken immediately at a wavelength of 546 nm. The proline concentration was determined from a standard curve and calculated on a fresh weight basis. All assays were made in triplicate.

3.3.4. Growth measurements

Plant height and stem diameter were recorded on six randomly selected plants per genotype and per treatment. Plant height was measured on the surface to the top of plant. Distructive determinations such as root length, LA and plant DW were measured on four plants per genotype and per treatment.

LA was measured immediately for all leaves on a plant using an automatic leaf area meter (ΔT Devices Ltd., Cambridge, UK) after the plant was removed.

Leaf, stem, root and plant DW were obtained after all parts of the plants were separately dried at 70 °C until constant weights were reached. Specific leaf area (SLA) was calculated by dividing LA by leaf DW (Lambrides et al., 2004). Root to shoot (stem+leaves) ratio was obtained by dividing root DW by shoot DW.

3.3.5. Yield determination

29

► t_{rw}

Fresh yield (total yield) and fruit number (without fruits affected by physiological disorders) of six plants per genotype in each treatment were measured as cumulative value of the two harvests.

Figure 3 - Schematic diagram of experiment with time indications (days) of drying re-watering cycles. In red color are reported the durations of the first (1° ds – from 1 to 10 day) and second drought stress (2° ds – from 18 to 23 day) imposed, instead in blue color the re-watering phases (1° rw - from 11 to17 day and 2° rw - from 24 to 29 day). The physiological, biochemical and biometric determinations carried out on plants during drying re-watering cycles are also reported.



3.3.6. Quality parameters of tomato fruits

3.3.6.1. Sample preparation

At first harvest, ripe fruits of the first and second trusses, were sampled (10 fruits per plant from the same plants used for yield determination) at commercial maturity (>90% fully coloured fruits, uniform size). Tomatoes were washed with tap water to remove dirt, then washed with distilled water and dried thoroughly with absorbent paper. A part of each whole sample was used for chromatic and biometric parameter measurements as well as firmness. The remaining part of the sample was homogenized for 45 s at 15,000 rpm using a Sterilmixer homogenizer (PBI International, Milano, Italy) and used for all other analyses. Unless specified otherwise, all chemicals used were of analytical grade and supplied by Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals Co. (Milan, Italy). All analyses were carried out in triplicate.

3.3.6.1.1. Chromatic parameters

Color measurements were performed on the surface of the tomatoes using a Chroma Meter CR-300 (Minolta Camera Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan). According to the CIELab standard, values of the absolute parameters L* (lightness), a* (green/red shade) and b* (blue/yellow shade) were recorded and colour development index (a*/b* ratio), correlated with the colour perceived for fruits (skin colour), was then calculated. The data reported are the average of a set of five determinations (per replicate) carried out on 10 different berries each one consisting of four measurements on opposite points of the tomatoes.

3.3.6.1.2. Biometric parameters

Ten fruits were randomly sampled and the following biometric parameters were measured: fruit fresh weight (g); fruit length and width (cm), which correspond to the polar and equatorial diameters respectively; fruit shape index, calculated by dividing fruit length by fruit width ratio.

3.3.6.1.3. Physicochemical traits

Three fruits were randomly sampled and firmness was measured (five measurements on different points of each tomato) using a texturometer (FT 011, Bertuzzi, Brugherio, Italy). Firmness indicates the force (kg cm⁻²) offered by the fruit against mechanical pressure and therefore its aptitude for mechanical harvest. The remaining fruits were cut into four pieces, then a 150–200 g tomato sample was homogenised in an Ultraturrax T25 (Janke & Kunkel, Staufen, Germany) for 3 min in an ice bath to prevent oxidation. The homogenate was analysed for the following physicochemical parameters according to AOAC procedures (1984):

- pH, read with a glass electrode pH meter (InLab pH Level 1, WTW, Weilheim, Germany) after standardisation with pH 7 and 4 buffer solutions;
- titratable acidity [g kg⁻¹ fresh weight (FW), as monohydrate citric acid], measured by titration using 0.1 mol L⁻¹ NaOH against 20 mL of a filtered 1:1 (v/v) diluted tomato homogenate sample with water;
- TSS (°Brix), measured with a hand refractometer (Bertuzzi) at 20 °C, the refractometer being washed with distilled water after each use and dried with blotting paper;
- TS (g kg⁻¹ FW), determined on 5 g a homogenate sample dried at 70 °C in a thermo-ventilated oven until constant weight (~72 h).

3.3.6.1.3.1. Reducing sugars

Reducing sugars and total sugars were determined by the methods described by Ranganna (1995) with slight modifications. To a known quantity of sample (10 g), 10 mL of 45% lead acetate solution was added and after 10-20 minutes, 5g potassium oxalate was mixed to remove the excess of lead. The content was filtered through Whatman N^o 1 filter paper and the volume of the filtrate was made up to 100 mL with water. This filtrate was titrated against Fehling's solutions A and B (5 mL each) by using methylene blue as an indicator. The end point was indicated by the appearance of brick red precipitates.

Reducing sugars (%) =
$$\frac{\text{mg of invert sugar x diluition}}{\text{Titre x weight of sample (g)} x 100} x 100$$

A standard invert sugar solution was prepared weighing 9.5 mg sucrose (AR) in to a 1.0 L volumetric flask. Added 100 ml of water and 5 ml concentrated HCl. Allowed it to stand for 3 days at room temperature for inversion and then made up to mark by adding water. Factor for Fehling's solution was determined by titrating equal amounts of Fehling's A and B with invert sugar by using methylene blue indicator and the end point was indicated by the complete discoloration of the indicator.

Factor for Fehling's solution (mg of invert sugar) = Titre x 2.5

3.3.6.1.3.2. Vitamin C

Ascorbic acid (AsA) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) contents were determined as reported by Kampfenkel et al. (1995) in samples of homogenate suspension (0.1 g) using 60 g kg⁻¹ metaphosphoric acid and spectrophotometric detection (Cary IE-100 UV–VIS, Varian, Palo Alto, CA, USA) at 525 nm. The linear reading of the standard curve was from 0 to 700 μ mol of ascorbic acid. The assay used is based on the reduction of Fe³⁺ to Fe²⁺ by ascorbic acid and the spectrophotometric detection of Fe²⁺ complexed with 2,2'-dipyridyl. Dehydroascorbic acid is reduced to ascorbic acid by preincubation of the sample with dithiothreitol (DTT), and the excess is removed with N-ethylmaleimide. Total ascorbic acid is determined by the 2,2_-dipyridyl method. The concentration of dehydroascorbic acid is then calculated as the difference between total ascorbic acid and ascorbic acid without pretreatment with DTT. Total vitamin C content was calculated as the sum of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid contents (AsA + DHA). Results were expressed as mg kg⁻¹ fresh weight (FW).

3.3.6.1.3.3. Lycopene and β -carotene

Lycopene and β -carotene fruit contents were evaluated using the extraction method reported by Sharma and Le Maguer (1996) and the HPLC chromatographic determination modified from Arena et al. (2000). The extraction was carried out on 1.0±0.05 g (FW) of cold-milled tomatoes in dark glass vials with 20mL of hexane-ethanol-acetone solution (50 : 25 : 25 v/v/v). To the mixture, stirred for 30 min in a refrigerated shaker, 4mL of distilled water were added, and then a further 2-min agitation was applied. Afterward, the solution mixture was left undisturbed for the polar-apolar layer separation, with decoloured pulp floating between phases. The hexane solution was filtered through a 0.22-mm nylon filter membrane (Albet) and directly injected into the HPLC system. All the extraction procedures were performed in dark conditions to avoid lycopene degradation.

A Beckman HPLC system (Irvine, CA, USA), comprising binary pump module (Programmable Solvent Module 126), injection valve (mod. 210A) with 20-mL biocompatible loop, UV-Vis spectrophotometer set at 472 nm (Programmable Detector Module 166), and column Adsorbosphere C18 250 x 4.6mm 5 mm (Alltech, Columbia, USA) with Adsorbosphere C18 precolumn (45 x 4.5 mm), was used. The following eluent system was used. Eluent 'A' methanol : water (75 : 25 v/v) and eluent 'B' ethyl acetate with starting condition 100% A; 3.5 min 30% A; 8.5 min 20% A; 13.5 min 20% A; 16.5 min 5% A; and 20.5 min 100% A, at 0.7 mL min⁻¹ flow rate. All the adopted solvents were HPLC grade. Carotenoid quantification was achieved by means of calibration curves obtained with standards of lycopene, 90–95% HPLC grade extracted from tomato (Sigma-Aldrich), and b-carotene, HPLC grade 95% from carrots (Sigma-Aldrich), dissolved in hexane. Standard purity level was evaluated by measuring absorbance at 472 and 453 nm, respectively, for lycopene and β -carotene, and adopting the following formulas: for lycopene

% Purity = $\frac{\text{Abs x 1000}}{3450 \text{ x } C} \text{ x 100}$

for β -carotene

% Purity = $\frac{\text{Abs x 1000}}{2592 \text{ x } C} \text{ x 100}$

where *C* is the standard concentration.

The adopted concentration range for calibration curve calculations were 1–50 μ g mL⁻¹ and 0.1–5 μ g mL⁻¹, respectively, for lycopene and β -carotene. Retention time observed for standards was 14.07±0.05 min and 15.11±0.24 min, for lycopene and β -carotene, respectively.

3.3.6.1.3.4. Total phenols

Total phenols were extracted from quintuplicate samples of tomato tissue with a solution of 10 mL L^{-1} HCl in methanol and assayed using the Folin–Ciocalteu reagent (Singleton et al., 1999).

Since sugars and other reducing substances (e.g. vitamin C) may interfere with the results of the assay, 20 methanolic extracts were settled on a Strata C-18 end-capped cartridge (Phenomenex, Castel Maggiore, Italy), 1 g for 6 mL, according to the following method. The cartridge was washed with 2 mL of methanol and conditioned with 5 mL of 0.01 mol L^{-1} H₂SO₄. A 1 mL sample was adsorbed and then 2 mL of 0.01 mol L^{-1} H₂SO₄ was added. The cartridge was linked to a 20 mL flask and eluted with 2 mL of methanol and 5 mL of deionised water. To the flask content, 1 mL of Folin–Ciocalteu solution was added, followed after 5 min by 4 mL of 200 g L⁻¹ Na2CO3, then the flask was made up to volume with deionised water. The mixture was incubated at 20 °C for 2 h. After centrifugation at 2500 × g for 15 min at 4 °C in order to separate the carbonate fraction, the absorbance at 765 nm was measured spectrophotometrically (Cary IE-100 UV–VIS, Varian) against a blank prepared in a flask containing all reagents and 2 mL of methanol without phenols. Results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent (GAE) kg⁻¹FW.

3.3.6.1.3.5. Antioxidant activity determination

Several assays have been frequently used to estimate antioxidant capacities in fresh fruits and vegetables. The antioxidant properties of the tomato genotypes studied were evaluated in methanolic extracts using the DPPH assay according to Wang et al. (2010), with modifications.

For the DPPH free radical-scavenging assay, 100 μ L of tomato extract (1 g mL⁻¹ in methanol) was mixed thoroughly with 2 mL of freshly prepared 0.1 mmol L⁻¹ DPPH methanolic solution (not buffered). After incubation at room temperature for 30 min in the dark, the absorbance at 517 nm was measured in a spectrometer (Lambda 11, Perkin Elmer, San Jose, CA, USA). Methanol (100 μ L) without the extract was used as a blank. The capability to scavenge the DPPH radical was calculated as follows:

DPPH – scavenging effect (%) =
$$1 - \frac{A517 \text{ sample}}{A517 \text{ blank}} \ge 100$$

Results were expressed as μ mol g⁻¹ FW.

3.4. Statistical analysis

In order to investigate the effects of the irrigation treatments on morphological, physiological, yield and quality traits of tomato genotypes under study, data were statistically analysed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), considering the interaction treatment *x* genotype. Differences between means were evaluated for significance using the least significant differences (LSD) test at $P_{0.05}$ level. All statistical procedures were computed using the statistical package SAS (version 9.1, SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC, USA).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Effect of drought stress and re-watering on SWC

SWC for control plants oscillated from 33 to 38% during the entirety of the experimental period and the different genotypes did not showed differences (Fig. 4). This could be explained because all plants were undergoing the same phonological period (beginning of flowering) so they required a similar amount of water.



Figure 4 – Volumetric soil water content (SWC) changes during soil drying and re-watering cycle. Blue dots refer to well-watered plants (ww) and red dots to drought plants (ds) of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Vertical bars are LSD values (P≤0.05) for treatments and genotypes comparisons at a given day of treatments. The duration of re-watering phases (1st and 2nd rw) were indicated by lines below the figure.

Drought affected SWC from 4 d and 2 d of the first and second stress period respectively, when SWC showed significant differences respect to the control for all genotypes. SWC decreased slowly in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina respect to Brigade, infact at 7 d of the first stressed period SWC of B cv. reached value (7%) significantly lower than the other two genotypes (11.10 for Pizzutello di Sciacca and 14.22% for Locale di Salina). Similar behavior was recorded at 4 d of the second stress period when Brigade reached the value of 5% significantly lower than 9.3% and 11% of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina. SWC decreased at minimum values at 10 d of the first drought-stress cycle (6.85%, 8.08% and 6% for Pizzutello di Sciacca, Locale di Salina and Brigade respectively) and at 6 d of the second drought-stress cycle (5.47%, 6.27% and 4.10%). The SWC decrease was quickly in the second drought-stress cycle respect to the first; infact it reached the minimum value in four days rather than ten days. This behavior was due to a higher evapotranspiration rate of all plants at second drought-stress cycle than to the first, relating to higher plant growth parameters. The SWC decrease became slower when the W.P. (10%) was reached. Moreover, SWC values reached at the peak of drought stress were not significantly different between genotypes during the two cycles, indicating that all plants underwent similarly intensive constraints. From the beginning of the first re-watering no differences were highlighted between control and stressed plants instead for the second re-watering the differences were not significant only after 2 d.

4.2. Effect of soil water deficit and re-watering on leaf gas exchange

Leaf gas exchange parameters of all genotypes, used in the experiment, showed similar response patterns during progressive water restriction and rewetting. They showed significant differences between the tomato genotypes x watering treatments interaction ($P \le 0.05$) within each day of treatment.

In general, gas exchange parameters declined significantly with SWC under water restriction.

 g_s of control plants remained above 0.30 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Fig. 5) during the experiment in all genotypes, it decreased gradually throughout the assay, without a significant difference between genotypes.

At the beginning of the experiment, g_s ranged from 0.53 to 0.63 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for the different genotypes in the control and stressed treatments.

At the first drought-stress cycle, g_s of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina stressed plants decreased earlier respect to those of Brigade plants. It already declined after 4 d of drought, when SWC was about 25%, reaching a level of 0.40 and 0.35 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina respectively. g_s of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina continued to decline up to 10 d of stress when the minimum value, near zero, was attained. Instead, g_s of Brigade stressed plants retained values not significantly different from control plants after 4 d of stress and rapidly dropped to near zero by 7 d when SWC reached the wilting point. g_s showed similar behavior in the second drought-stress cycle; g_s value of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina declined to a level lower than that Brigade at 2 d of drought when SWC was \approx 20% but was maintained at higher level during the remaining stress period until the wilting point was reached. g_s of Brigade rapidly dropped to near zero by 4 d. Complete stomatal closure for Locale di Salina and Pizzutello di Sciacca occurred only at 6 d. For all genotypes, during the second dehydration period, g_s reached the minimum value (about zero) earlier than the first drought-stress period.



Figure 5 – Responses to stomatal conductance (g_s) to drying-rewetting alternation. Blue dots refer to wellwatered plants (ww) and red dots to drought plants (ds) of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Vertical bars are LSD values (P \leq =0.05) for treatments and genotypes comparisons at a given day of treatments. The duration of re-watering phases (1st and 2nd rw) were indicated by lines below the figure.

It is thought that rapid stomatal response may act as a drought resistance mechanism, which permits to keep water for later use and thus to maintain higher leaf water potentials (Teare et al., 1973; Jones, 1974). Generally, stomatal closure protects plants against excessive water loss, but also restricts the diffusion of CO_2 into the photosynthetic parenchyma. Thus, the earlier reduction of g_s in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina could be one of the prerequisites for a better performance during drought stress. Quarrie (1982), who connected it with genetic differences in the capacity to produce A, has demonstrated genotypic variation in stomatal response to water deficit.

The first re-watering was followed by recovery of g_s to near control values also if the recovery time was different among the genotypes indicating complete reversibility of the responses to drought stress. g_s of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina after re-watering, reaching nearly as high as that of the control by 2 d, more rapidly respect to Brigade that recovered after 4 d respectively.

In contrast after the second re-watering stomata remained closed for more time; stomatal opening tended to increase slowly in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina recovering a value not significant different from control only at 6 d of re-watering. g_s of Brigade drought-stressed treatments did not reach the level of control treatments at the end of the second re-watering phase.

Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina showed a higher average time for the decrease of g_s under dehydration and a rapid recovery after re-watering indicated the greater dynamism of stomata of these genotypes than of those of Brigade.

When plants were re-watered after a period of water stress, stomatal conductance recovers more slowly than leaf water status (Ismaiv and Davies, 2000).

A was non-significantly different among the different genotypes under studied in well-watered plants where it decreased progressively during the experimental period, from 17.27 to 10.00 μ molm⁻²s⁻¹ in Pizzutello di Sciacca, from 19.37 to 11.20 μ molm⁻²s⁻¹ in Locale di Salina and from 20.00 to 10.50 μ molm⁻²s⁻¹ in Brigade (Fig. 6a).

During the first recovery (100% irrigation), *A* resulted not different from the control already after 2 d; increased from 3.78 to 13.12 μ molm⁻²s⁻¹ in Pizzutello di Sciacca and from 4.41 to 15.22 μ molm⁻²s⁻¹ in Locale di Salina. At the second rewatering *A* of stressed plants returned to values not different from control plants only after 6 d. Brigade recovered the stress imposed more slowly respect to the previous genotypes; the recovery of *A* was completed only after 7 d of the first rewatering period and was not complete in the second re-watering. One of the reasons for this incomplete recovery could be the drought-induced damages of chloroplasts and mitochondria (Vassileva et al., 2011). *A* of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina stressed plants at 7 d of the first re-watering period showed an ultra-compensating effect, which made the net photosynthesis ratio of the drought treatment greater than that of the control.

Vassileva et al., 2011 reported that drought-tolerant wheat genotype leaves displayed lower g_s and higher A during dehydration. It is noteworthy that the gas-exchange traits of tolerant genotypes recovered quickly to their original levels after rehydration. Rewetting of dry soil led to full recovery of both g_s and A in Acacia confusa (Liang et al., 1997).

Genotipic variations in A of several stressed-crop plants were evident from the studies of Gunasekera et al., 1994 and Kicheva et al., 1994. The drought tolerance of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina could be correlated with their capacity to maintain relatively high A values with a less reduction in g_s under drought stress.

In addition, Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina stressed plants were able to reduce g_s as much as possible without significantly affecting photosynthesis. *A* of these genotypes began to decrease significantly only at 7 d and 4 d of the first and second drought period respect to g_s that already decreased at 4d and 2d of the same periods. Early closure of stomata and late decrease in *A* could be considered an important drought-adapting mechanism of crops (Lu et al., 2002). Sapeta et al. (2010) showed a similar mechanism from *Jatropha curcas* in response to drought.

The low g_s induced by water deficit leads to a decreased CO₂ availability, which has a direct adverse effect on photosynthesis (Chaves et al., 2009). Photosynthesis is among the primary processes affected by drought.



Figure 6 – Responses of a) photosynthetic rate (A), b) intercellular carbon dioxide concentration (Ci) and c) the maximum quantum yield of PSII (Fv/Fm) to drying-rewetting alternation. Blue dots refer to well-watered plants (ww) and red dots to drought plants (ds) of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Vertical bars are LSD values (P≤0.05) for treatments and genotypes comparisons at a given day of treatments. The duration of re-watering phases (1st and 2nd rw) were indicated by lines below the figures.

For all drought-stressed genotypes, A was highly correlated with g_s (Fig. 7). The response displayed a logarithmic pattern for Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina, with an initial phase where decreases in g_s resulted in relatively smaller decreases in A, followed by a second phase, where the relationship became linear and the slopes steeper. Galmes et al. (2011) also reported a non-linear relationship between A and g_s for Mediterranean accessions of *Solanum lycopersicum* in drought conditions. Differently from cv. Brigade A and g_s correlation was linear. This suggests that the impact of initial stomatal closure (high g_s values) on photosynthesis was larger on Brigade than the remaining genotypes.

A strong correlation between g_s and A rapresents an adjustment of g_s to match the genotype intrinsic photosynthetic capacity under stress (Ramanjulu et al., 1998). Several studies have proposed that stomata closure is the main determining factor in photosynthesis reduction under moderate stress conditions (Sharkey, 1990; Chaves, 1991; Ort et al., 1994; Medrano et al., 2002). The existence of a good correlation between A and g_s does not necessarily mean that A is only under g_s control.

As would be predicted from data presented in Figure 6b, C_i values were reduced substantially at time when photosynthesis was inhibited. The only exception was the stressed plants of Brigade after 4 d of the first re-watering, where C_i i was comparable to well-watered plants while photosynthesis remained inhibited and recovered only after 7 d, suggesting some factors other than CO₂ supply (e.g. mesophyll capacity of photosynthesis), which were limiting the CO₂ assimilation.

Figure 7 - Relationship between stomatal conductance (g_s) and the photosynthesis rate (A) in tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B) under drought treatment.

The reduced *A* during water deficits can also be attributed to impairment of the primary photosynthetic machinery. According to He et al. (1995), water stress affects directly the photochemical events largely by affecting PSII activity both by degradation of D1 and D2 proteins of PS2 reaction center and retarded synthesis of these proteins, which leads to lowered electron transport (Kaiser 1987; Chaves 1991; kicheva et al. 1994; Fedina and Popova 1996; Niinemets, 2002). Chlorophyll fluorescence parameters are direct indicators of the photosynthetic activity (Lichatenthaler et al., 2000) particularly they are indicators of PSII functioning and electron transfer from PSII to PSI and have been used frequently to estimate damage to the photosynthetic system. Photochemical damage is reflected in an increase in F_0 or decreases in Fm or Fv/Fm (Thomas and Turner, 2001). The maximum quantum yield of PSII (Fv/Fm ratio) is an important parameter, which determines the maximum quantum efficiency of PSII. It provides a measure of the rate of linear electron transport, hence, an indication of overall photosynthetic capacity (Tang et al. 2007; Jamil et al. 2007; Balouchi 2010). In healthy leaves, Fv/Fm value is usually close to 0.8 in most plant species, therefore a lower value indicates that a proportion of PSII reaction centers is damaged or inactivated, a phenomenon, termed as photoinhibition, commonly observed in plants under stress (Baker and Rosenqvist 2004; Zlatev 2009; Vaz and Sharma 2011).

Further analyses on the chlorophyll fluorescence of all genotypes of different treatments indicated that the values of Fv/Fm ratio for Pizzutello di Sciacca and locale di Salina were not significantly affected by drought treatments, but whole soil drying reduced Fv/Fm ratio of Brigade (Fig. 6c). At 10 d of the first drought stress period Fv/Fm of Brigade stressed plants dropped to 0.698 respect to 0.762 recorded by control plants; Fv/Fm value did not fully recover only after 4 d of rewatering causing a delay in A recovery respect to g_s and C_i . So the late recovery of A after re-watering in Brigade may be regarded as the rate of internal damage on photosynthesis functions by water stress. The turning point between rapid and slow recovery seen varies by plant species, cultivars and the degree and history of stresses (Miyashita et al., 2005).

Drought stress did not alter the Fv/Fm in bigtooth maples (Bsoul et al., 2006) and papaya (Marler and Mickelbart, 1998). Moseki and Dintwe (2011) also reported a decrease in the dark-adapted Fv/Fm ratio of two sorghum cultivars with increase in duration of withholding water in water stressed plants. In addition Moseki (2000) showed that on re-watering the sorghum cultivar, with higher decrease in Fv/Fm during water stress, took longer to recovery than the cultivar with lower Fv/Fm decrease. Sousa et al. (2004) also observed that an advance phase of water stress, a down regulation of PSII activity occurred as revealed by decreases in the maximum quantum yield of PSII (Fv/Fm) and complete recovery of Fv/Fmoccurred 3 days after re-watering. It is therefore logical to suggest that decreases in Fv/Fm ratio exhibited by Brigade during the first drought stress period being followed by a recovery can be ascribed mainly to down-regulation of PSII by the xanthophyll cycle rather than damage to PSII reaction centers. In addition the photoinhibited reaction centers can be also quickly de-assembled and replaced by new ones (Aro et al., 1993).

Differently in the second drought stress period Fv/Fm of Brigade stressed treatments decreased and not recovery after rewatering suggesting the presence of a permanent damage.

Stomatal conductance can be considered the only factor limiting photosynthesis in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina genotypes, whereas in Brigade *cv.*, in addition to stomatal limitation, decreased PSII activity also contributed to decrease and subsequent recovery in photosynthetic performance.

4.3. Effects of soil water deficit and re-watering on leaf ABA accumulation

Under well-waterd conditions, leaf ABA content remained a low level (<100 pmol g^{-1} FW) in all genotypes, and no genotypes differences were observed (Fig. 8). Leaf ABA content increased with drought in all genotypes. There were a 2-fold increase in ABA contents in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina after 4d of the first drought period and up to a 4-fold increase and 5-fold increase, for the two genotypes respectively, after 10 d. The differences between Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina showed ABA content higher than

Pizzutello di Sciacca. ABA content in Brigade stressed plants, also, showed significant increase at 4 d with value not significant different respect to Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina but then it increased quickly until to 10 d of stress when recorded a value 13 times higher than control. Brigade had significantly higher ABA content than Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina at 10 d of drought, this content was about two times greater. ABA contents for all genotypes showed similar trends during the second drought stress period also if the ABA increases occurred earlier, at 2 d of stress, compared to the first stress period. In Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina, ABA increases resulted slower than those of Brigade. Increases of ABA under dehydration have been frequently documented in other species (Ober et al., 1991; Sharp et al., 1994; Alves and Setter, 2000; Cao et al., 2000; Jin et al., 2000; Li et al., 2000; Stoll et al., 2000).

Upon re-watering, the leaf ABA contents of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina rapidly decreased, and returned to the control levels within 2d and 6d of the first and second re-watering respectively. Differently in Brigade *cv.*, the ABA increase disappeared only after 7 d of the first re-watering and did not return to pre-stress condition at the second re-watering. These results indicate that the closure of stomata during soil drying could be explained fully by the increase of ABA concentration in leaves as well as the post-stress effects.

Figure 8 - Leaf ABA accumulation in response to drying-rewetting alternation of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Colored bars refers to well-watered treatments (ww), instead transparent bars to drought treatments (ds). Different letters indicate significant different values for $P \le 0.05$ within each day of treatment for treatments *x* genotypes interaction. Below the figure are reported the indication of the number of drought stress cycles (1st ds and 2nd ds) and re-watering phases (1st rw and 2nd rw).

Figure 9 shows that for all genotypes there were a close relationship between g_s and leaf ABA concentrations suggesting that drying-induced stomatal closure through leaf ABA increases. Many earlier studies have shown that g_s is related to ABA concentration when soil is dried in species such as maize, sycamore and lupine (Zhang and Davies 1987, 1989, 1990; Khalil and Grace 1993; Correia and Pereira 1994, 1995). ABA accumulation has been found to protect plants from damage by drought by inducing stomatal closure, thus reducing water loss via transpiration during early or mild drought stress (Harris and Outlaw, 1991; Wilkinson and Davies, 1997).

Figure 9 - Relationship between stomatal conductance (g_s) and leaf ABA content in drought-stressed plants of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Lines are fitted linear regressions and correlation coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) are indicated. The differences in the slopes of each genotype was tested by ANOVA (P=0.05).

ABA regulation of drought tolerance may involve both the sensitivity of ABA biosynthesis to changes in plant water status and the sensitivity of the stomata to the changes in ABA concentration (Quarrie and Jones, 1979). The rates of change in g_s , with leaf ABA concentration for Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina were greater than that for Brigade. So smaller increases in ABA content were necessary to generate a quickly stomata closure. This indicated that stomata in leaves of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina genotypes were more sensitive to ABA accumulation than those of Brigade. The sensitivity of stomata to ABA changes also varied with genotype in other species (Quarrie and Jones, 1979; Cellier et al., 1998). The high ABA sensitivity of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina genotypes under drought treatment may lead to early stomatal closure during drought and limit further water loss, thus lessening damage caused by soil drying. Wang and Huang (2003) showed similar results for Kentucky Bluegrass exposed to drought stress.

Our results on the changes in ABA concentration and stomatal conductance are in agreement with those reported by Fischer et al. (1970) and Correia and Pereira (1994). Fischer et al. (1970) suggested that the lag of stomatal recovery was a result of the persistent effects of ABA produced during the water stress period. Work carried out by Correia and Pereira (1994) on the effects of drought on leaf conductance and on the concentration of ABA in the apoplastic sap of *Lupinus albus* L. leaves, suggested that, an estimated apoplastic ABA concentration did not return to pre-stress values immediately following re-watering. Delay in stomatal reopening upon re-watering could be explained by the ABA in the apoplast.

4.4. Effects of soil water deficit and re-watering on leaf water status and proline accumulation

 ψ_{leaf} of well-watered plants ranged from -0.2 MPa to -0.5 MPa during the drying re-watering experiment and in each day of treatment there were not significant differences between the genotypes (Fig. 10).

 ψ_{leaf} decreased due to water stress in all genotypes and the decline was more pronounced for Brigade *cv*. than for Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina at 10 d and 6 d of the first and second stress period respectively. Differences in ψ_{leaf} values were not significant between control and stressed plants of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina at 4 d and 2 d of the first and second stress period even if the differences were significant in SWC and g_s values. The lower ABA accumulation in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina during drought stress further illustrated that these two genotypes experienced less severe drought stress, which could be due to their superior dehydration avoidance, as demonstrated by their relatively higher ψ_{leaf} under the same soil moisture conditions. Complete stomatal closure for Brigade at 10 and 6 d of the first and second stress period respectively could be resulted from leaf desiccation, which was indicated by its low ψ_{leaf} (below -1.3 MPa) at these times of drought stress. Miyashita et al. (2005) also found that the kidney bean was allowed to maintain its leaf moisture for 5 days even if the soil moisture decreased to about 40%. Hossain et al. (2014) reported that ψ_{leaf} of drought-susceptible soybean genotypes.

 ψ_{leaf} of stressed plants of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina returned to the control value at 2 d and 6 d of the first and second re-watering phase as soon as g_s recovered. Differently Brigade stressed plants recovered ψ_{leaf} value of control only at 7 d of the first re-watering and did not recover after the second re-watering. Also for stressed plants of Brigade, ψ_{leaf} and g_s had the same behaviour during re-watering phases.

Liang et al. (2002) reported a recovery of ψ_{leaf} 24 h after the addition of water to the treated pots of wheat. Hossain et al. (2014) found that ψ_{leaf} of drought-tolerant soybean genotypes increased faster and reached values nearly equal to that of well-watered plants after 15 d of re-watering whereas in the drought-susceptible genotype the recovery was not complete.

Figure 10 - Response to leaf water potential (Ψ_{Leaf}) to drying-rewetting alternation of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B). Colored bars refers to well-watered treatments (ww), instead transparent bars to drought treatments (ds). Different letters indicate significant different values for $P \le 0.05$ within each day of treatment for treatments x genotypes interaction. Above the figure are reported the indication of the number of drought stress cycles (1st ds and 2nd ds) and re-watering phases (1st rw and 2nd rw).

Similarly, to ψ_{leaf} all genotypes recorded RWC values not significantly different under control conditions and RWC decreasing with the application of drought stress (Fig. 11a). Under drought-stress, the RWC decline such was lower in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina respect to Brigade.

RWC of stressed plants recovered values similar to control plants at the end of the first re-watering (t_{rw1}) in all genotypes, instead the recovery was not complete after the second re-watering (t_{rw2}) for Brigade.

The lower g_s and higher RWC assisted Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina to maintain higher leaf water potential under drought conditions and achieve a rapid increase after rewetting.

The rapid recovery of ψ_{leaf} after rewetting accompanied by increased g_s highlights the role of leaf water status in stomatal control (Fuchs and Livingston, 1996).

Hossain et al. (2014) reported that when water stress was intensifying, RWC declined significantly compared to wellwatered plants in all soybean genotypes also if this declining tendency was more pronounced in the susceptible genotypes than in the tolerant genotypes. In addition, drought-tolerant genotypes exhibited a more rapid recovery when the soil was rewetted. Siddique et al. (2000) reported that wheat cultivars with less reduction in relative water content could cope-up better under severe stress conditions. He suggested that the high relative water content could help the tolerant genotypes to perform physio-biochemical processes more efficiently under water stress conditions than susceptible genotypes.

Leaf proline increased significantly under drought stress in comparison with control in all genotypes; the highest increase was recorded in Brigade where the proline accumulated in stressed leaves 25 and 22 times the level found in the leaves of well-watered plants in t_{ds1} and t_{ds2} (Fig. 11b).

Figure 11 - a) Response to leaf relative water content (RWC) and b) leaf proline content (fresh weight basis – FW) of tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca (P), Locale di Salina (L) and Brigade (B) at the end of drought stress periods (t_{ds1} and t_{ds2}) and re-watering phases (t_{rw1} and t_{rw2}). Colored bars refers to well-watered treatments (ww), instead transparent bars to drought treatments (ds). Different letters indicate significant different values for P \leq 0.05 within each day of treatment for treatments *x* genotypes interaction.

There were no significant differences between control plants of different genotypes. Re-waterings reported proline contents to values similar to control in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina, instead in Brigade stressed leaves proline content remained higher than control leaves in t_{rw2} .

Goyal et al. (1985) recorded an 8-fold increase in free proline content in a drought tolerant variety of rice respect to a 3-fold increase of a susceptible variety after 8 days of water stress and on re-watering there was a conspicuous fall in proline content in all varieties.

The tendency of free proline accumulation in plants under any abiotic stress condition is an indicator of a mechanism of avoidance of those stresses. Proline is a reliable indicator of environmental stress imposed on plants (Claussen, 2005).

In our study the lower proline content after water restriction were recorded in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina corresponding with more water retained in the leaves (higher RWC and ψ_{leaf} respect to Brigade).

During drought stress, plants attempt to maintain their turgor through osmotic adjustment by accumulation of compatible solutes like proline, which lower the cellular osmotic potential, facilitate water absorption, and restore intracellular ion concentration. Proline accumulation and improved plant performance under drought stress have already been studied in crop varieties. According to many authors, free proline might be involved in membrane protection during water stress (Kocheva and Georgiev, 2003), or it might be a reserve of readily mobilizable N available upon relief of stress (Hare et al., 1998). Proline acts as an osmolite beside enzymes and other macromolecules, and therefore, protects the plant against low water potential and causes osmotic regulation in plant organs. Proline can also act as an electron receptor preventing photosystems injuries in dealing with ROS function. Proline accumulation facilitates the permanent synthesis of soluble substances in closing stomata. This process is different in various plants (Zhang et al., 2006). Proline accumulation in foliage was seen in olive cultivars (*Olea europea* L.) in low water condition (Bacelar et al., 2009). Garcia et al. (1997) and Lutts et al. (1999) differently consider proline accumulation to be rather a symptom of damage, than an indicator of plant resistance.

4.5. Growth and morphology

Growth parameters in different genotypes responded differently to drought. Locale di Salina produced higher well-watered plants (124.6 cm) as compared to rest of the genotypes (114.1 cm and 119.8 cm of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Brigade, respectively, Tab. 1).

In drought conditions, plants of all genotypes were able to grow, also if showed a reaction by shortening the length of their heights Results showed that the maximum reduction in plant height was caused in the Brigade cv. in t_{ds1} and t_{ds2} .

The reduction in height may be associated with a decline in cell enlargement under water stress. Water stress greatly suppresses cell expansion and cell growth due to the low turgor pressure (Munns et al., 2000; Ogbonnaya et al., 2003; Jaleel et al., 2008). A reduction in soil moisture may reduce the availability of nutrients to the plant and consequently reduce plant height, growth and yield (Hale et al., 2005; Razmjoo et al., 2008). Drought stress reduces plant growth, so the carbon fixed during photosynthesis could be used to form secondary metabolites (Hale et al., 2005).

Results from this study are similar to those found by Kirnak et al. (2001) where plant height of water stressed plants were smaller than the equivalent component in the well-watered plants. Bradford and Hsiao (1982) and other investigators have shown that stem and plant growth may be inhibited at low water potential despite complete maintenance of turgor in the growing regions as a result of osmotic adjustment. Nyabundi and Hsiao (1989) reported that when tomato plants are subjected to different levels of water stress under field conditions, vegetative growth is inhibited.

Re-watering the plants, in t_{rw1} , the effects of water stress on plants were eliminated for Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina but not for Brigade. In t_{rw2} the height of drought-stressed plants did not recovery the values of the control for all genotypes.

How crops adapt to soil water conditions is an extremely complex issue. Many experiments have shown that crops respond to the drought stress followed by re-watering, by exhibiting a fast growth once the stress disappears (Xu and Zhou, 2007; Liu et al., 2001). This is considered an adaptation to environmental changes.

Table 1 – Growth parameters of tomato genotypes (plant height, stem diameter, root length, root dry weight - Root DW,
shoot dry weight - Shoot DW, root to shoot ratio – Root/Shoot) at the end of drought stress periods (t_{ds1} and
 t_{ds2}) and re-watering phases (t_{rw1} and t_{rw2}). Different letters indicate significant different values for P ≤ 0.05
within each time of sampling (t_{ds1} , t_{ds2} , t_{rw1} , t_{rw2}) for treatments x genotypes interaction.

Donomotona	t _{ds1}		t _{rw1}		t _{ds2}		t _{rw2}	
Farameters	ww	ds	ww	ds	ww	ds	ww	ds
Plant height (cm)								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	62.3 b	53.2 d	90.6 bc	88.3 c	102.1 c	93.2 e	114.1 c	100.7 e
Locale di Salina	69.2 a	58.4 c	98.2 a	95.8 a	112.4 a	99.5 d	124.6 a	105.1 d
Brigade	66.1 a	52.4 d	91.5 b	85.9 c	106.3 b	91.7 e	119.8 b	102.4 de
Stem diameter (mm)								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	5.9 c	5.6 c	7.1 c	7.3 c	7.8 cd	7.6 d	8.2 c	8.1 c
Locale di Salina	6.8 b	6.5 b	7.9 b	7.6 b	8.4 b	8.1 bc	8.8 b	8.5 bc
Brigade	7.5 a	7.9 a	8.6 a	8.5 a	9.1 a	9.3 a	9.6 a	9.8 a
Root lenght (cm)								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	18.2 c	22.6 b	26.2 c	30.6 b	30.3 c	35.2 b	33.6 c	38.5 b
Locale di Salina	25.3 a	25.9 a	36.3 a	36.9 a	41.9 a	41.8 a	43.3 a	43.5 a
Brigade	22.8 b	17.32 c	33.1 b	28.3 c	36.2 b	31.2 c	37.9 b	32.9 c
Root DW (g)								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	1.27 a	1.30 a	1.89 c	2.02 c	2.26 b	2.22 b	2.52 c	2.66 c
Locale di Salina	1.56 a	1.21 b	2.69 a	2.5 ab	2.88 a	2.60 b	3.35 a	3.01 b
Brigade	1.41 a	0.95 c	2.38 b	1.95 c	3.00 a	2.10 d	3.06 b	2.31 c
Shoot DW (g)								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	23.58 bc	19.11 d	33.23 c	32.55 c	41.74 d	33.56 f	44.59 d	39.95 d
Locale di Salina	31.25 a	25.34 b	44.38 a	44.20 a	51.47 a	44.20 b	56.63 a	52.07 b
Brigade	26.71 b	22.11 c	36.81 b	29.90 d	45.13 bc	37.08 e	49.11 c	42.29 d
Root/Shoot $(g g^{-1})$								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	0.054 b	0.068 a	0.057 d	0.062 bc	0.054 b	0.066 a	0.057 a	0.067 b
Locale di Salina	0.050 b	0.047 bc	0.060 cd	0.056 d	0.056 b	0.059 b	0.059 a	0.059 a
Brigade	0.053 b	0.043 c	0.065 a	0.065 a	0.066 a	0.056 b	0.062 a	0.055 a

The increase of stem diameter was not affected by drought (Tab. 1). Brigade control plants presented larger stems compared to the plants of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina.

Morphological components such as root and shoot DW of each genotypes were found to be influenced by drought stress (Tab. 1). All genotypes recorded higher shoot DW under well-watered condition respect to drought, in both t_{ds1} and t_{ds2} . In t_{ds1} all genotypes recorded a similar reduction in terms of shoot DW (about 21-23% respect to control); in t_{ds2} Locale di Salina showed a lower shoot DW reduction (17% respect to control) as compared with the other genotypes (24% of Pizzutello di Sciacca and 22% of Brigade).

In t_{rw1} there was a recovery of shoot DW to near control values for Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina; instead, in the second re-watering the recovery was not complete for all genotypes.

With regard to root DW, a reduction of this parameter was found in Locale di Salina and Brigade drought stressed plants respect to control in t_{ds1} and t_{ds2} . Root DW reduction was higher in Brigade (48% and 43% respect to control in t_{ds1} and t_{ds2}) than Locale di Salina (30% and 11% respect to control in t_{ds1} and t_{ds2}). Nahar and Gretzmacher (2011) also reported root

and shoot dry matter production of two tomato cultivars BR-2 and Marglobe decreased gradually with increasing water stress.

Kameli and Losel (1996) reported that drought stress might increase root weight and decrease shoot weight. The absorption of nutrients from the soil depends on the availability of water to roots. It is, also, reported that soil water deficit may reduce root growth and limit nutrient uptake by roots (Arndt et al., 2001).

Locale di Salina stressed plants recovered in t_{rw1} the root DW value of control; instead, they did not recovery in t_{rw2} . The recovery of root DW from stress conditions was not complete for Brigade after both re-waterings.

No significant differences were found in root DW between control and stressed plants of Pizzutello di Sciacca in all sampling times. Under drought stress, the absence of root DW differences was probably due to higher root length of stressed plants than control that compensate the root mass reduction.

Root length behaviour in response to drought was very different among the genotypes. Pizzutello di Sciacca plants had a longer root length in drought condition than in control (18.2 cm vs. 22.6 cm in t_{ds1} and 30.3 cm vs. 35.2 cm in t_{ds2}). These plants increased their roots to maximize water up take from the soil.

Root characteristics, especially root length is important for a plant to have comparatively well-established above-grounded parts by exploiting the available water (Ekanayake et al. 1985). The longer roots measured for Pizzutello di Sciacca in drought stress conditions may help the plant to extract water from the deep soil. Comparable results were reported on wheat cultivars (Almaghrabi, 2012) and pearl millet (Leila, 2007). Macar et al. (2009) in their study also explained that drought stress induced by PEG prevented radical extension in Chickpea. Kulkarni and Deshpande (2007) explained early and rapid elongation of roots is main indication of drought tolerance.

Differently by Pizzutello di Sciacca, Locale di Salina recorded root length values in drought plants not significantly different from well-watered plants in both t_{ds1} and t_{ds2} . Brigade could be considered the most susceptible if we take in account that drought stress induced an arrest in root growth; so root length of stressed plants was lower than those of control plants (17.32 cm vs. 22.8 cm in t_{ds1} and 31.2 cm vs. 36.2 cm in t_{ds2}). Nahar and Gretzmacher (2011) also found that drought stress caused a reduction in root length of BR-1 and BR-2 tomato cultivars and did not have any influence on BR-4 and BR-5 cultivars.

Drought and control plants of all genotypes preserved, regards to root length, in the re-watering phases the same differences visible at the end of drought periods.

Data on root/shoot (Tab. 1) revealed that stress plants had differential response to drought condition. Control plants of Brigade had a root/shoot ratio higher than that of stressed ones (0.053 vs. 0.043 in t_{ds1} and 0.066 vs. 0.057 in t_{ds2}). Differently from Brigade, drought caused an increase of root/shoot in Pizzutello di Sciacca. The differences in root/shoot between stressed and control plants were not significant in Locale di Salina.

The results indicate that drought affected the shoot growth but not the root growth of Pizzutello di Sciacca, therefore the root/shoot increased under water deficit conditions. The root/shoot increase under water stress is due mainly to decreased shoot weight rather than increased root weight. Root mass rarely increases under stress, whereas root length and root volume often increase in response to stress. Generally, when water availability is limited, the root/shoot of plants increases because roots are less sensitive than shoots to growth inhibition by low water potentials (Wu and Cosgrove, 2000). Similar results were obtained in chickpea plants (Kalefetoglu Macar and Ekmekci, 2009). Fernández et al. (1996) also found that drought affected shoot growth before the root growth in young cotton plants grown in pots.

The increased root/shoot implies the development of larger ratio of root length density to leaf area, which translates into a better capacity for sustaining drought stress (Blum, 1996). Li and Wang (2003), Gazal and Kubiske (2004), Bargali and Tewari (2004) consider a high root/shoot as a drought tolerant parameter. The emphasized that the first and most common feature of plant growth is increasing of root/shoot ratio in arid regions.

Water stress significantly reduced LA and leaf DW in all genotypes (Tab. 2). The highest reduction in both parameters was noticed in Brigade with values of 35% and 44% in t_{ds1} and 37% and 54% in t_{ds2} for LA and leaf DW, respectively. Both LA and leaf DW were reduced of about 22-28% in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina in t_{ds1} and t_{ds2} .

Drought-induced reduction in LA is ascribed to suppression of leaf expansion through reduction in photosynthesis (Rucker et al., 1995). Khakwani et al. (2012) also found a minor reduction of leaf DW under water stress in rainfed varieties as compared to irrigated varieties. The possible reason for minimum reduction was attributed to the fact that the accumulated solutes were used as substances for rapid recovery growth when stress was relieved. Christopher et al. (2004) reported similar results, where differences between drought resistant and susceptible varieties under stressed condition were due to the portioning of resources during development. The drought susceptible lines had thinner leaves, which reduced total dry weight. It has been reported that smaller leaf area may be ascribed to acceleration of leaf senescence and abscission (Constable and Hearn, 1978) or to the sensitivity of leaf expansion to water stress (Boyer, 1970; Whiteman and Wilson, 1965).

In stressed plants of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina, the first re-watering allowed the recovery of LA and leaf DW to values not significantly different from those of control plants. Instead, after the second re-watering LA and leaf DW values of control plants remained higher than of stressed plants.

Drought treatment substantially inhibited the SLA of Pizzutello di Sciacca leading to a reduction in SLA of 7% and 10% in t_{ds1} and t_{ds2} , as compared to the well-watered treatment (Tab. 2). On the contrary, in Brigade stressed plants, SLA had values lower than of well-watered plants (270.3 *vs.* 288.8 in t_{ds1} and 261.8 *vs.* 294.5 in t_{ds2}).

SLA decreases because of increases in leaf thickness or density, or both (Niinemets, 2001). A lower SLA is usually a consequence of an increase in the density or thickness of foliar tissue and normally occurs when the costs of the assimilatory apparatus are increased (Centritto, 2002), such as during long periods of drought.

The morphological features, like SLA, are associated with plant drought adaptation strategies (Liu and Stutzel, 2004) and their plasticity may improve drought adaptation. Morphological traits from Mediterranean cultivars, such as the ability to alter SLA, may be used for drought-tolerant cultivar improvement.

Hayatu and Mukhtar (2010) reported in their study a reduction in SLA of cowpea under severe water stress as adaptive mechanism that helps the plant to reduce water loss from the evaporative surfaces.

Table 2 – Leaf morphological features of tomato genotypes (leaf area - LA, leaf dry weight - Leaf DW, specific leaf area - SLA)at the end of drought stress periods (t_{ds1} and t_{ds2}) and re-watering phases (t_{rw1} and t_{rw2}). Different letters indicatesignificant different values for P ≤ 0.05 within each time of sampling (t_{ds1} , t_{ds2} , t_{rw1} , t_{rw2}) for treatments x genotypesinteraction.

Parameters	t _{ds1}		t _{rw1}		t _{ds2}		t _{rw2}	
	ww	ds	ww	ds	ww	ds	WW	ds
$LA(cm^2)$								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	2813 b	2257 c	4039 c	4014 c	5370 b	4377 c	5936 b	5137 c
Locale di Salina	3435 a	2765 b	4930 a	4688 ab	6018 a	4695 c	6301 a	4917 c
Brigade	3160 a	2348 c	4475 b	3358 d	5483 b	3994 d	5829 b	4103 d
Leaf DW (g)								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	10.64 b	9.17 cd	14.43 c	13.95 c	18.89 b	16.93 c	20.97 b	18.04 c
Locale di Salina	13.03 a	10.41 c	18.23 a	17.52 ab	22.46 a	18.34 bc	23.92 a	19.04 c
Brigade	11.69 a	8.13 d	16.04 b	12.79 c	20.94 a	13.56 d	21.85 b	14.88 d
SLA (cm^2g^{-1})								
Pizzutello di Sciacca	264.4 c	246.1 d	279.9 a	287.7 a	284.3 a	258.5 c	283.1 a	284.8 a
Locale di Salina	263.6 c	265.6 c	270.4 b	267.6 b	267.9 b	255.0 c	263.4 b	258.2 b
Brigade	270.3 b	288.8 a	279.0 a	262.5 b	261.8 c	294.5 a	266.8 b	275.7 c

4.6. Effect of drought on yield characteristics

Differences in total yield were shown from different genotypes under study (Tab. 3). Brigade recorded the highest yield under well-watered conditions (1012.35 g pt⁻¹). In general the stressful treatments negatively affected the total yield in all genotypes; Brigade stressed plants recorded a fruit production which was less than half (460.15 g pt⁻¹), than that produced under full irrigation (1012.35 g pt⁻¹). Yield reduction of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina under drought treatments was 27% and 32% respectively if compared with control plants.

Table 3 - Effect of drought stress on yield and some biometric traits of fruits of long-storage tomatoes Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale diSalina and processing tomato cv. Brigade (fresh weight basis). The differences within each parameter were analysed by
ANOVA (P=0.05) for genotype x treatment interaction and different letters indicate significant different values for P \leq 0.05.

Treatments	Total yield	Fruits number	Fruit weight	Fruit lenght	Fruit width	Fruit shape (lenght/width ratio)
	$g pt^{-1}$	$n^{\circ} pt^{-l}$	g	ст	cm	$cm cm^{-1}$
Pizzutello di Sciacca						
ww	772.74 c	64.02 a	12.07 dc	2.81 b	2.36 c	1.19
ds	563.38 d	45.71 c	11.45 d	2.74 b	2.41 c	1.14
Locale di Salina						
ww	823.65 b	52.32 b	15.74 c	2.66 b	2.84 b	0.94
ds	477.28 e	36.07 d	13.23 c	2.55 b	2.69 b	0.95
Brigade						
ww	1012.35 a	17.40 e	58.16 a	5.62 a	4.61 a	1.22
ds	460.15 e	11.44 f	40.22 b	5.16 a	4.29 a	1.20

The same severe depressive effects of water stress upon yield are widely reported in the literature on processing tomato open-field cultivated (Patanè and Cosentino, 2010; Ozbahce et al., 2010; Pernice et al., 2010; Favati et al., 2009).

The soil water deficit during yield formation and ripening caused blossom-end rot. This condition restricted the movement of calcium from the soil to the fruit (Saure, 2001; Nonami et al., 1995), a result consistent with previous findings (Marouelli et al., 2004; Cho et al., 1998). In good agreement with our findings, Zegbe et al. (2006) also reported that partial root zone drying (PRD) from the first truss to fruit-set caused a significant yield decrease.

Yield reduction of Brigade *cv*. was due to a double effect: the reduction of the number of fruits per plant and the reduction of fruit weight. Instead, in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina there were not significant differences in fruit weight between drought and control plants.

Birhanu and Tilahun (2010) reported a decreased number and sizes of tomato fruits from plants subjected to moisture stress. Zotarelli et al. (2009) also reported the same observation of water stress on tomato yield parameters.

A lower number of fruits is the result of flower abortion as tomato is very sensitive to water stress during flower and fruit set (Pulupol et al. 1996).

The reason for the low fruit weight in Brigade stressed plants is that the soil is dry for a long time, resulting in a low fruit water content. This prolonged dryness decreases the accumulation of moisture in the fruit. This result is consistent with findings by Ramalan and Nwokeocha (2000), who showed that fruit weight was affected by soil moisture levels.

The fruits produced in drought condition, on average smaller than those of control, mainly contributed to the low yields obtained under water stress conditions. These results are in agreement with the findings of Marouelli and Silva (2007), who observed that the number of fruits per plant was reduced as soil water tension during fruit development and maturation growth stages increased, mainly since many small green fruits aborted or did not enlarge under drier conditions.

The reduction of number of fruit per plant, fruits size with an increased amount of water stress level was also evident in previous work conducted on tomato (Candido et al., 2001). Water stress consistently reduced production of the most valuable extra-large sized fruit. A study conducted to evaluate the effect of irrigation cutback on yield showed that total marketable yields doubled and while yields of high value extra-large fruit tripled with irrigation (Smajstrla et al., 1994).

The differences among the genotypes were significant with Pizzutello di Sciacca consistently having more number of fruits per plant and lower fruit weight. The low fruit weight of Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina (< 20 g) was a parameter that characterized long-storage tomato.

The fruit shape index is vital in evaluating consumer preference and meeting quality standards (Gerhard et al., 2001). Fruit shape is affected by especially genotypic variability in addition to environmental growing conditions (White et al., 2000). Fruit length decreased proportionally to fruit width in plants of all genotypes exposed to water stress, so the fruit shape remained constant (Tab. 3). Tomato genotypes differed in fruit shape; Pizzutello di Sciacca and Brigade had an elongate fruit (fruit shape > 1) respect to Locale di Salina characterized by round fruit. Stikic et al. (2003) also reported that PRD caused a significant reduction in fruit numbers, but this effect was not significant for fruit diameter. However, Madrid et al. (2009) observed that the values of physical properties including the equatorial diameter, longitudinal diameter, and geometric mean diameter of processing tomato fruits increased with increasing irrigation.

4.7. Effect of drought on physicochemical traits of tomato fruits

For all genotypes, the value of L* (lightness) was not affected by water shortage. In Brigade significantly higher values of a* (red color) and b* (yellow color) were recorded for fruits from well-irrigated plants, indicating greater red/yellow colour in comparison with water-stressed fruits (data not shown). Both a* and b* components significantly decreased in drought conditions, but the decrease of a* was more pronounced than the relative decrease of b*. As a consequence a*/b* ratio, usually considered as a repening index, recorded significantly higher value in control fruits of Brigade (Tab. 4), indicating greater colour development than in those of stressed fruits. Color is principally associated with the lycopene content of tomato and is generally considered the most important attribute determining the product quality (Garcia and Barret, 2006). In our study, higher a* values of control fruits of Brigade may be attributed to higher lycopene content respect to that of stressed fruits in accord to data reported by Barbagallo et al.(2013). In Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina there were not significant differences in a*/b* ratio between control and stressed plants.

Table 4 -	Effect of drought stress on physicochemical traits of fruits of long-storage tomatoes Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina and
	processing tomato cv. Brigade (fresh weight basis). The differences within each parameter were analysed by ANOVA (P=0.05) for
	genotype x treatment interaction and different letters indicate significant different values for $P \le 0.05$.

	Firmness Skin color			Tritatable acidity Tot	al soluble solids (TSS)	Total solids (TS)	Reducing sugars
Treatments	$Kg \ cm^{-2}$	a*/b*	рн	% ac. citrico	° Brix	$g K g^{-l}$	$g K g^{-1}$
Pizzutello di Sciaco	a						
WW	2.71 c	1.46 b	4.20 a	0.25 b	5.75 d	72.85 c	35.21 b
ds	3.85 a	1.58 b	4.18 a	0.26 b	7.77 a	102.74 a	53.98 a
Locale di Salina							
WW	2.79 c	1.82 a	4.23 a	0.24 b	6.00 e	67.48 d	36.12 b
ds	3.82 a	1.94 a	4.24 a	0.26 b	7.42 b	90.77 b	52.74 a
Brigade							
WW	2.42 d	1.59 b	4.22 a	0.32 a	5.65 d	56.21 e	35.34 b
ds	3.02 b	1.31 c	4.28 a	0.31 a	6.41 c	64.63 d	39.93 c

The effects of drought on physicochemical traits were generally the converse of those on fruit yield and fruit weight. Fruit firmness was significantly improved in the absence of irrigation in all genotypes. Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina

stressed fruits recorded an increase of about 40% of fruit firmness respect to values of well-watered fruits (Tab. 4). In Brigade the increase of fruit firmness, under drought treatment, was only 25%. Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina showed higher values of fruit firmness respect to Brigade for both stressed and control fruits. According to Guichard et al. (2011) the positive effect of water stress may be associated with a decrease in internal firmness of the fruit, which could lead to lower pressure on the cell walls and thus to greater epidermal elasticity, possibly compensated by strengthening of the cell walls. These results are in agreement with those previously reported for tomato by other authors (Sofo et al., 2004). No favorable effect of drought stress on pH was observed (Tab. 4). This is an important characteristic in terms of processing requirements; values of pH in both water regimes did not exceed the minimum (\leq 4.30) allowed to define the product as 'good' according to the reference scale of analytical parameters for processing tomato pulp (Silviero, 1998). Conversely, titratable acidity did not change with water regime (Tab. 4). Hanson et al. (2006) and Tuzel et al. (1994) also

observed no effect of water regime on tomato acidity.

Table 4 shows that TSS such as TS was significantly affected by soil water deficit in all genotypes. Pizzutello di Sciacca stressed fruits showed a TSS increase of 35% respect to control fruits, the increase was more limited in Locale di Salina (24%) and Brigade (13%). As expected, the very early cut-off of irrigation induced higher fruit quality in terms of total solids (TS) and total soluble solids (TSS) in comparison with the fully irrigated treatment. In this study, water supply increased the total yield in all genotypes but significantly reduced the TSS.

TSS content in the fruit is an important quality factor for tomatoes grown for processing. TSS is the principal parameter affecting paste yield (Patanè and Cosentino, 2010; Johnstone et al., 2005). It is desirable to have high values of TSS in the fruit because it improves the quality of the processed product (De Pascale et al., 2001), Cemeroglu et al. (2003) reported that average TSS content in industrial tomatoes must be at least 5°Brix. TSS content of stressed fruits was also significantly different between the tomato genotypes. Pizzutello di Sciacca drought stressed fruits recorded the highest value of TSS (7.77 ° Brix). Tomatoes higher in TSS content may require less energy to evaporate water from the fruit with important implications for industrial purposes (for paste or concentrated juice) (Favati et al., 2009). This aspect justify the use of the long-storage tomato in programs of genetic improvement to obtain better performances by processing tomato cultivars. Marouelli and Silva (2007) and Garcia and Barrett (2006), also observed, a negative correlation between yield and TSS. Many other authors found that imposing soil water stress increases the TSS content to values higher than those found in fruits under full irrigation (Helyes et al., 2012; Patanè and Cosentino, 2010; Ozbahce and Tari, 2010; Favati et al., 2009; Hanson and May, 2004; Zegbe-Dominguez et al., 2003). Ho et al. (1987) proposed that this phenomenon was due to an increase in the phoem sap concentration and a decrease in its flux resulting in reduced water availability in the plant. The phloem flux is largely responsible for the increase in tomato size (Guichard et al., 2011). Therefore, a decrease in this flux accompanied by an increase in its sugar concentration results in fruits of smaller size but with higher dry matter content. In contrast, Hanson et al. (2006) stated that the TSS values of well-irrigated tomatoes did not differ significantly from the TSS values of tomatoes grown under water stress.

Tomato fruit taste was improved by drought in all genotypes because of the increased reducing sugars (Tab. 4). The increase of reducing sugars in tomato fruit under drought was higher for Pizzutello di Sciacca (53%) and Locale di Salina (46%) respect to Brigade (13%). Reducing sugars content followed similar behavior of TSS. Tomato fruit flavor is a function of both taste and aroma components (Malundo et al., 1995), and tomato taste is largely determined by the contents of soluble sugars and organic acids and their ratio (Kader, 2008; Dorais et al., 2001).

4.8. Effect of drought on some antioxidant contents of tomato fruits

Vitamin C (the sum of AsA and DHA) is an important constituent of tomato fruits since it prevents oxidative damage that might take place during fruit ripening, thus maintaining the shelf life of the fruit (Slimestad and Verheul, 2009). The vitamin C content was significantly greater in tomato fruits under limited soil water conditions (Tab. 5). The highest increase in vitamin C content under drought conditions was recorded in Brigade (18.5%) but Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina showed higher value of vitamin C respect to Brigade both in control (25% and 16% more than Brigade) and stressed fruits (15% and 12% more than Brigade). Other studies have highlighted that the tomato nutrient content, such as vitamin C, increased as a result of the soil water depletion, even if it seems to be cultivar dependent (Mahajan and Singh, 2006; Dumas et al., 2003; Mitchell et al., 1991).

Tomatoes contain various carotenoids, with lycopene accounting for more than 80% of the total carotenoids present in fully red-ripe fruits (Lenucci et al., 2006).

The lycopene content of Brigade fruits exposed to drought stress (98.6 mg kg⁻¹) was lower than that of fruits grown under favourable water conditions (129.4 mg kg⁻¹) (Tab. 5). This result is in agreement with data reported by Barbagallo et al. (2013) about the reduction of lycopene content in fruits of Brigade, grown in open-field conditions, under water stress. Naphade (1993) in a study on the effects of four irrigation regimes on three tomato cultivars reported that the fruit lycopene content decreased in response to moisture stress. In red and pink cherry tomato cultivars, the total carotene of the fully ripe fruits and the amount of lycopene both increased when there were soil water deficits (Matsuzoe et al., 1998). Irrigation probably indirectly affected lycopene concentration in Brigade by inducing more and larger fruits, and thus had a dilution effect on ingredients.

In Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina lycopene content had higher values respect to those of Brigade and did not showed significant differences between stressed and control fruits. Barbagallo et al. (2008) also reported the absence of

significant differences in lycopene content under 50% of water regime. Lycopene content in control fruits was not significant different between the two genotypes.

Differently by lycopene content, β -carotene increased with drought (Tab. 5) in Pizzutello di Sciacca (31%) and Locale di Salina (27%). Pizzutello di Sciacca had a higher β -carotene content in control (9.8 mg Kg⁻¹) and stressed fruits (12.4 mg Kg⁻¹) respect to those of Locale di Salina (8.1 mg Kg⁻¹ and 10.3 mg Kg⁻¹ in control and stressed fruits) and Brigade (8.4 mg Kg⁻¹ and 7.9 mg Kg⁻¹). β -carotene content did not showed significant differences in Brigade stressed fruits respect to control. In red and pink large-fruited tomatoes, soil water deficits also tended to increase the amount of lycopene per fresh mass of the fruit in the region of the outer pericarp, but it had no effect on the amount or distribution of β -carotene (Matsuzoe et al., 1998). Riggi et al. (2008) reported a higher β -carotene/lycopene ratio in fruits of Brigade developed under soil water deficit, suggesting a negative influence of water stress on lycopene accumulation. Srivastava and Handa (2005) reported that the effects of SWC on lycopene and β -carotene accumulation could be explained by the evaluation of their role in the biosynthesis of some plant water-stress related hormones, such as ABA. This hormone is involved in plant stress responses (drought, salinity, cold); in particular, water stress causes a rapid increase in its content (Mitchell et al., 1991). Indeed, under water stress, the carotenoid biosynthetic pathway is more oriented towards β -carotene than towards lycopene, and β -carotene is the precursor for ABA formation under water stress conditions (Riggi et al., 2008). The lower lycopene content measured in the present study in water-stressed fruits of Brigade could have accounted for the lower values of the colour a*/b* ratio reported above.

Results concerning the effect of water stress on carotenoids in processing tomato are rather contradictory (Pernice et al., 2010; Dumas et al., 2003). In this study lycopene content decreased significantly in response to water stress in cv. Brigade and β -carotene increased in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina. This is in accordance with Dumas et al. (2003) who reported that water shortage reduces lycopene content in some varieties of processing tomato whereas it stimulates β -carotene production in others.

Table 5 - Effect of drought stress on some antioxidants in fruits of long-storage tomatoes Pizzutello diSciacca and Locale di Salina and processing tomato cv. Brigade (fresh weight basis). Thedifferences within each parameter were analysed by ANOVA (P=0.05) for genotype xtreatment interaction and different letters indicate significant different values for P \leq 0.05.

T	Vitamin C	Lycopene	β-Carotene	Total phenols	DPPH
Treatments	mg Kg ⁻¹	$mg Kg^{-1}$	$mg Kg^{-1}$	mg GAE Kg ⁻¹	% reduction
Pizzutello di Sciacca					
ww	435.2 c	149.2 a	9.8 c	890.8 c	77.6 c
ds	474.6 a	157.9 a	12.4 a	1773.3 a	99.4 a
Locale di Salina					
ww	403.1 d	155.3 a	8.1 d	878.2 d	72.5 d
ds	462.4 b	166.7 a	10.3 b	1597.2 b	89.2 b
Brigade					
ww	347.2 e	129.4 b	8.4 d	721.4. e	59.7 f
ds	411.7 d	986 c	7.9 d	794.8 c	65.8 e

A great variation in total phenolic content was recorded for the genotypes under study. Total phenolics ranged from 890.8 mg GAE Kg^{-1} of Pizzutello di Sciacca to 721.4 mg GAE Kg^{-1} of Brigade in fruits obtained under control conditions (Tab. 5). The results are in agreement with Fu et al. (2011), who found 735 mg GAE Kg^{-1} , in cherry tomatoes grown hydroponically in the greenhouse. Values for total phenolic content were between the low levels reported by Hernandez-Suarez et al. (2008) and Ahmed et al. (2011) (50–167 mg GAE kg^{-1}) and the high levels measured by Zhou and Yu (2006) under open field conditions (3000–5000 mg GAE kg^{-1}) and by Luthria et al. (2006) under tunnel cultivation (3500–4500 mg GAE kg^{-1}). The obtained values were also lower than those found by Barbagallo et al. (2008) in tomatoes under glasshouse cultivation in a Mediterranean climate, highlighting the great variation in total phenolic content depending on cultivar, growing stage and crop conditions.

Total phenolic content differed significantly according to the irrigation regime. Water stress caused an increase in total phenolic content in all genotypes with values that were up to 2.3-fold higher in Pizzutello di Sciacca (1773.3 mg GAE Kg^{-1}) than that of the Brigade (794.8 mg GAE Kg^{-1}). Pek et al. (2014) also showed that total phenolic concentrations in tomato fruits were lower with optimum water supply in comparison with deficit irrigation.

The literature contains limited studies on factors affecting the levels of phenolic compounds in tomato, in particular on the effect of water stress on total phenols of tomato fruit.

Antioxidant activity represents a measure of the capacity of food extracts to inhibit or delay oxidative processes. It derives from distinct bioactive antioxidant compounds present in such extracts (Martınez-Valverde, 2002). Tomato is recognized as one of the most important sources of antioxidants, namely lycopene, ascorbic acid, flavonoids and phenolic acids, chlorogenic acids, etc. Radical extinguishment is considered one of the major mechanisms of antioxidants that inhibit oxidative processes. The DPPH radical is a relatively stable organic radical that is widely used as a substrate to assess antioxidant activity in vegetables (Ahmed et al., 2011; Martinez-Valverde, 2002).

Antioxidant activity measured by the DPPH assay recorded higher values in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina (77.6% and 72.5% respectively) compared with Brigade (65.8%) already in the control fruits (Tab. 5).

DPPH was positively affected by water shortage, the difference in radical-scavenging percentage between fruits produced in drought and well-watered conditions were highly significant for all genotypes. The increase in DPPH value in the stressed respect to control fruits was 28%, 23% and 12% for Pizzutello di Sciacca, Locale di Salina and Brigade, respectively. Barbagallo et al. (2013), also, recorded an increase of about 10% of DPPH percentage reduction in the stressed fruits of Brigade *cv*. respect to the control.

Toor and Savage, (2005) found that the antioxidant activity in tomato was due to ascorbic acid (28–38%) and phenolics (60–70%). Ahmed et al. (2011) also reported a significant correlation between DPPH radical scavenging activity and phenolic content. The higher phenolic content of tomatoes grown under water stress and their higher antioxidant activity determined in the present study confirm these findings, highlighting the important contribution of phenolic compounds to the antioxidant pattern of tomato.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Drought is a worldwide problem, constraining global crop production and quality seriously, and recent global climate change has made this situation more serious. The research of more drought-resistant crops is necessary to alleviate future threats to food availability in the world.

This research was carried out to compare the response to drought stress of two long-storage tomato genotypes respect to a well-known drought sensitive processed tomato genotype.

Based on the results of this study, it can be concluded that different physiological, biochemical and morphological adaptive mechanisms were involved to confer drought tolerance in tomato genotypes Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina respect to Brigade.

Genotypes differences in drought response varied in stomatal sensitivity to changes in ABA level during drought. Drought tolerance of long-storage tomato genotypes could be related to higher sensitivity of stomata to ABA accumulation under drought stress conditions that allowed them an earlier closure of the stomata, reducing drought damages.

Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina were able to maintain a higher tissue water status (RWC and ψ_{leaf}) and photosynthetic activity by regulating stomatal opening in response to soil water deficit.

Under drought stress, stomatal conductance was the only factor limiting photosynthesis in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina, whereas in Brigade, in addition to stomatal limitation, a decreased PSII activity as well as a reduced efficiency of electron transport also contributed to decrease in photosynthetic performance. Damage to PSII activity, was responsible of a late or not complete recovery of photosynthesis after re-watering in Brigade.

In addition to physiological parameters, morpho-anatomical adaptations to water deficit could explain the difference in drought resistance among the studied genotypes. In particular, Pizzutello di Sciacca was able to reduce water losses through the leaf surface by reducing LA and increasing leaf thickness (SLA) and at the same time, it invested in root growth (higher roots length) to improve the plant water uptake.

Water is an important factor influencing tomato yield and fruit quality. Drought negatively influenced tomato yield with reduction of the number of fruits per plant and mean fruit weights; Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina was found to be the genotypes with lower yield reduction.

This study also revealed that water deficit exerted beneficial effects upon fruit quality, mostly in terms of TSS and TS with interesting implications for industrial purposes. In fact, a high total solids content of the fruit improves the efficiency throughout the industrial process (for paste or concentrated juice).

Together with TS, a raise in antioxidant contents (vitamin C, phenols) of the fruit under drought regime was also observed, with human health benefits. Furthermore, drought stress produced a quality fruit improvement in Pizzutello di Sciacca and Locale di Salina higher than Brigade.

From this investigation, it can be concluded that the two long-storage genotypes, thanks to their drought tolerant traits, can be considered a possible alternative to common commercial genotype for cultivation in semiarid areas.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I have been very fortunate to perform this research with the support of many people. I like to acknowledge the people who were mainly involved with this study. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my tutor, Prof. Giancarlo Barbieri (UNINA) for accepting me as his student and for his support and guidance throughout this work.

I also appreciate the support and leadership in the development of the topic for this thesis of Dr. Rossella Albrizio (CNR-ISAFoM), my co-tutor.

I am infinitely grateful to Dr. Cristina Patanè (CNR-IVALSA) for tomato seed providing and for quality determinations on tomato fruits.

Above all, I am greatly indebted to my loving parents and husband for their never-ending support unconditionally. Last but certainly not least, I must acknowledge my best friend Aldo without his encouragement, patient and scientific support, I would not have finished this thesis.

Thank you all!

7. REFERENCES

- Adams P (1990) Effects of watering on the yield, quality and composition of tomatoes grown in bags of peat. J. Hort. Sci. 65(6):667-674.
- Ahmed L, Martin-Diana AB, Rico D, Barry-Ryan C (2011) The antioxidant properties of whey permeate treated fresh-cut tomatoes. Food Chem. 124:1451–1457.
- Ahuja I, De Vos RC, Bones AM, Hall RD 2010 Plant molecular stress responses face climate change. Trends Plant Sci. 15:664-674.
- Almaghrabi AO (2012) Impact of drought stress on germination and seedling growth parameters of some wheat cultivars. Life Science Journal 9:590-598.
- Alves AAC, Setter TL (2000) Response of cassava to water deficit: leaf area growth and abscisic acid. Crop Sci. 40:131–137.
- Arena E, Fallico B, Maccarrone E (2000) Influence of carotenoids and pulps on the colour modification of blood orange juice. Ital. J. Food Sci. 65:458–460.
- Arndt SK, Clifford SC, Wanek W, Jones HG, Popp M (2001) Physiological and morphological adaptation of the fruit tree *Ziziphus rotundifollia* in response to progressive drought stress. Tree Physiol. 21:705-715.
- Aro EM, Virgin I, Andersson B (1993) Photoinhibition of photosystem II: inactivation, protein damage and turnover. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1143:113–134.
- Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Roles of glycinebetaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environ. Exp. Bot. 59:206-216.
- Atkinson CJ, Policarpo M, Webster AD, Kingswell G (2000). Drought tolerance of clonal Malus determined from measurements of stomatal conductance and leaf water potential. Tree Physiol. 20(8):557-563.
- **Bacelar EA**, Moutinho-Pereira JM, Goncalves BC, Lopes JI, Correia CM (2009) Physiological Responses of Different Olive Genotypes to Drought Conditions. Acta Physiol. Plant. 31(3):611-621.
- **Baker NR**, Rosenqvist E (2004) Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence can improve crop production strategies: an examination of future possibilities. J. Exp. Bot. 55:1607-1621.
- **Balouchi HR** (2010) Screening wheat parents of mapping population for heat and drought tolerance, detection of wheat genetic variation. Int. J. Biol. Life Sci. 6:56-66.
- **Barbagallo RN**, Chisari M, Branca F, Spagna G (2008) Pectin methylesterase, polyphenol oxidase and physicochemical properties of typical long storage cherry tomatoes cultivated under water stress regime. J. Sci. Food Agric. 88:389–396.
- **Barbagallo RN**, Di Silvestro I, Patanè C (2013) Yield, physicochemical traits, antioxidant pattern, polyphenol oxidase activity and total visual quality of field-grown processing tomato *cv*. Brigade as affected by water stress in Mediterranean climate. J. Sci. Food Agric. 93:1449–1457.
- **Bargali K,** Tewari A (2004). Growth and water relation parameters in drought-stressed *Coriaria nepalensis* seedlings. J. Arid Environ. 58:505-512.
- **Birhanu K**, Tilahun K (2010) Fruit yield and quality of drip-irrigated tomato under deficit irrigation. African Journal of Food Agriculture Nutrition and Development 10(2):2139-2151.
- **Blanke MM**, Cooke DT (2004) Effects of flooding and drought on stomatal activity, transpiration, photosynthesis, water potential and water channel activity in strawberry stolons and leaves. Plant Growth Regul. 42:153-160.
- Blum A (1996) Crop responses to drought and the interpretation of adaptation. Plant Growth Regul. 20:135–148.
- **Blum A** (2005) Drought resistance, water-use efficiency, and yield potential are they compatible, dissonant, or mutually exclusive? Aust. J. Agric. Res. 56:1159–1168.
- **Bota J,** Flexas J, Medrano H (2004) Is photosynthesis limited by decreased Rubisco activity and RuBP content under progressive water stress? New Phytol. 162:671–681.
- **Boyer JS** (1970) Different sensitivity of photosynthesis to low water potentials in corn and soybean. Plant Physiol. 46:236-239.
- Bradford KJ, Hsiao TC Physiological responses to moderate water stress. In: Physiological plant ecology II. Water relations and carbon assimilation. Encyclop. Plant Physiol. 12B. Eds. Lange O., Nobel P. S., Osmond C. B., Zeigler H. Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York 1982, pp. 263–324.
- **Bray EA** (1988) Drought and ABA-induced changes in polypeptide and mRNA accumulation in tomato leaves. Plant Physiol 88:120-1214.
- **Bray EA** (2001) Plant response to water-deficit stress. In: Resistance can occur through avoidance or tolerance of water-deficit stress. Encyclopedia of life science, Nature Publishing Group, http://www.els.net pp. 1-5.
- **Bray Elizabeth** (1988) Drought and ABA-induced changes in polypeptide and mRNA accumulation in tomato leaves. Plant Physiol. 88:1210-1214.

- **Bsoul E,** Hilaire R St, Van Leeuwen DM (2006) Bigtooth maples exposed to asynchronous cyclic irrigation show provenance differences in drought adaptation mechanisms. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 131:459–468.
- **Bulbotko GV** (1973) The effect of the physical properties of soils on the development of the root system of apple trees. Soviet Soil Sci. USSR 5:219-224.
- **Candido V**, Miccolis V, Perniola M, Rivelli AR (2001) Water use, water use efficiency and yield response of "Long time storage tomato" (*Lycopetsicon esculentum* Mill). Proc. 3rd IS Irrigation of Horticultural Crops, Basilicata, 2001, pp. 789-792.
- **Cao WX**, Wang ZL, Dai TB (2000) Changes in levels of endogenous plant hormones during floret development in wheat genotypes of different spike sizes. Acta Bot. Sin. 42:696-700.
- **Cellier F**, Conejero G, Breitler J C, Casse F (1998) Molecular and physiological responses to water deficit in drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive lines of sunflowers. Accumulation of dehydrin transcripts correlates with tolerance. Plant Physiol. 116:319-328.
- Centritto M (2002) Interactive effects of elevated [CO2] and drought on peach seedlings. Plant Biosyst. 5:177–188.
- Chaves MM (1991) Effects of Water Deficits on Carbon Assimilation. J. Exp. Bot. 42(1):1-16.
- **Chaves MM**, Flexas J, Pinheiro C (2009) Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. Ann. Bot. 103:551-560.
- **Chaves MM**, Pereira JS, Maroco J, Rodrigues ML, Ricardo CPP, Osorio ML, Carvalho I, Faria T, Pinheiro C (2002) How plants cope with water stress in the field: photosynthesis and growth. Ann. Bot. 89:907–916.
- **Chen Z,** Zhou M, Newman I, Mendham N, Zhang G, Shabala S (2007) Potassium and sodium relations in salinized barley tissues as a basis of differential salt tolerance. Funct. Plant Biol. 34:150-162.
- **Cho IH**, Lee EH, Kim TY, Woo YH. Kwon YS (1998) Effects of high humid-ity on occurrence of tomato blossom-end-rot. Journal of Korean Society for Horticultural Science 39:247–249.
- **Christmann A,** Weiler EW, Steudle E, Grill E (2007) A hydraulic signal in root-to-shoot signaling of water shortage. Plant J. 52:167–174.
- **Christopher JT**, Borrell AK, Manschadi AM, Hammer G, Chapman S. Developing high yielding wheat for water limited environments in northern Australia. New Directions for a Diverse Planet. Proceedings of the 4th International Crop Science Congress, Brisbane, Australia, 2004.
- Claussen W (2005) Proline as a measure of stress in tomato plants. Plant Sci. 168:241-248.
- **Colla G,** Casa R, Lo Cascio B, Saccardo F, Temperini O, Leoni C (1999) Response for processing tomato to water regime and fertilization in central Italy. Acta Hortic. 487:531-535.
- **Constable GA**, Hearn AB (1978) Agronomic and Physiological response of soybean and sorghum crops to water deficit. I. Growth, Development and Yield. Aust. J. Plant Physiol. 5(1):159-167.
- **Correia MJ**, Pereira JS (1995) The control of leaf conductance of white lupin by xylem ABA, concentration decrease with the severity of water deficits. J. Expt. Bot. 46:1171–110.
- **Correia NJ**, Pereira JS (1994) Abscisic acid in apoplastic sap can account for the restriction in leaf conductance of white lupins during moderate soil drying and after rewatering. Plant Cell Environ. 17:845–852.
- **Davies WJ,** Zhang J (1991) Root signals and the regulation of growth and development of plants in drying soil. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 42:55-76.
- **De Pascale S**, Maggio A, Fogliano V, Ambrosino P, Retieni A (2001) Irrigation with saline water improves carotenoids content and antioxidant activity of tomato. J. Hort. Sci. Biotechnol. 76:447–453.
- **Demiral T,** Turkan I (2004) Does exogenous glycinebetaine affect antioxidative system of rice seedlings under NaCl treatment? J. Plant Physiol. 161:1089-1110.
- Doorenbos J, Kassam AH (1979) Yield response to water. FAO irrigation and Drainage Paper 33, pp.157.
- Dorais M, Papadopoulos A, Gosselin A (2001) Greenhouse tomato fruit quality. Horticultural Reviews 26:239–319.
- **Dumas Y**, Dadomo M, Di Lucca Gand Grolier P (2003) Effects of environmental factors and agricultural techniques on antioxidant content of tomatoes. J. Sci. Food Agric. 83:369–382.
- **Ekanayake IJ**, Toole JCO, Garrity DP, Masajo TM (1985) Inheritance of root characters and their relations to drought resistance in rice. Crop Sci. 25:927–933.
- Farooq M, Wahid A, Kobayashi N, Fujita D, Basra, SMA (2009) Plant drought stress: effects, mechanisms, and management, Agron. Sustain. Dev. 29:185-212.
- **Favati F**, Lovelli S, Galgano F, Miccolis V, Di Tommaso T, Candido V (2009) Processing tomato quality as affected by irrigation scheduling. Sci. Hort. 122:562–571.
- Fedina IS, Popova AV (1996) Photosynthesis, photorespiration and proline accumulation in water-stressed pea leaves. Photosynthetica 32(2):213-220.

- Fernandez CJ, Cothren JT, McInnes KJ (1996) Partitioning of biomass in water and nitrogen-stressed cotton during prebloom stage. J. Plant Nutr. 19:595–617.
- Fischer RA, Hsiao TC, Hagan RM (1970) After-effect of water stress on stomatal opening potential. I. Techniques and magnitudes. J. Exp. Bot. 21:371–385.
- **Fischlin A,** Midgley GF, Price JT, Leemans R, Gopal B, Turley C, Rounsevell M, Dube P, Tarazona J Velichko A In: Ecosystems, their properties, goods and services. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE, editors. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007, pp. 211–272.
- Flexas J, Bota J, Loreto F, Cornic G, Sharkey TD (2004) Diffusive and metabolic limitations to photosynthesis under drought and salinity in C3 plants. Plant Biol. 6:1-11.
- **Franco JA**, Perez-Saura PJ, Fernandez JA, Parra M, Gracia AL (1999) Effect of two irrigation rates on yield, incidence of blossom-end rot, mineral content and free amino acid levels in tomato cultivated under drip irrigation using saline water. J. Hort. Sci. Land Technol. 74(4):430-435.
- **Fu L**, Xu BT, Xu XR, Gan RY, Zhang Y, Xia EQ, Li HB (2011) Antioxidant capacities and total phenolic contents of 62 fruits, Food Chem. 129:345-350.
- **Fuchs EE**, Livingston NJ (1996) Hydraulic control of stomatal conductance in Douglas fir [*Pesudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco] and alder [*Alnus rubra* (Bong)] seedlings. Plant Cell Environ. 19:1091–1098.
- Galmes J, Conesa MA, Ochogavia JM, Perdomo JA, Francis DM, Ribas-Carbò M, Savè R, Flexas J, Medrano H, Cifre J (2011) Physiological and morphological adaptations in relation to water use efficiency in Mediterranean accessions of *Solanum lycopersicum*. Plant Cell Environ. 34:245–260.
- Garcia AB, de Almeida EJ, Iyer S, Gerats T, Van Montagu M, Caplan AB (1997) Effects of osmoprotectans upon NaCl stress in rice. Plant Physiol. 115:159-169.
- Garcia E, Barrett DM (2006) Evaluation of processing tomatoes from two consecutive growing seasons: quality attributes, peelability and yield. J. Food Process. Pres. 30:20–36.
- Gazal RM, Kubiske ME (2004) Influence of initial root length on physiological responses of cherrybark oak and Shumard oak seedlings to field drought conditions For. Ecol. Manage. 189:295-305.
- **Gerhard J**, Nielsen HM, Wolfgang P (2001) Measuring image analysis attribute sand modeling fuzzy consumer aspects for tomato quality. Computers and Electronic in Agriculture 31:17–29.
- **Goodger JQ,** Sharp RE, Marsh EL, Schachtman DP (2005) Relationships between xylem sap constituents and leaf conductance of well-watered and water-stressed maize across three xylem sap sampling techniques. J. .Exp. Bot. 56: 2389–2400.
- Gowda VRP, Henry A, Yamauchi A, Shashidhar HE, Serraj R (2011) Root biology and genetic improvement for drought avoidance in rice. Field Crops Res. 122:1-13.
- Goyal A, Rathore VS, Kocchar VK (1985) Effect of water stress on photosynthesis, proline accumulation and nitrate reductase activity in the leaves of three genotypes of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Indian J. Agric. Res. 19(4):215-224.
- **Guichard S**, Bertin N, Leonardi C, Gary C (2011) Tomato fruit quality in relation to water and carbon fluxes. Agronomie 21:385–392.
- **Gunasekera D**, Santakumari M, Glinka Z, Berkowitz GA (1994) Wild and cultivated barley genotypes demonstrate varying ability to acclimate to plant water deficits. Plant Science 99(2):125–134.
- **Ha CV**, Leyva-Gonzalez MA, Osakabe Y, Tran UT, Nishiyama R, Watanabe Y, Tanaka M, Seki M, Yamaguchi S, Dong NV, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K, Herrera-Estrella L, Tran LS. (2014) Positive regulatory role of strigolactone in plant responses to drought and salt stress. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111:581–856.
- Hale BK, Herms DA, Hansen RC, Clausen TP, Arnold D (2005) Effects of drought stress and nutrient availability on dry matter allocation, phenolic glycosides and rapid induced resistance of poplar to two lymantriid defoliators. J. Chem. Ecol. 31(11):2601-2620.
- Hanson BR, Hutmacher RB, May DM (2006) Drip irrigation of tomato and cotton under shallow saline ground water conditions. Irrigation and Drainage Systems 20:155–175.
- Hanson BR, May DM (2004) Effect of subsurface drip irrigation on processing tomato yield, water table depth, soil salinity, and profitability. Agric. Water Manage. 68:1–17.
- Hare PD, Cress WA, Van Staden J (1998) Dissecting the role of osmolyte accumulation during stress. *Plant Cell Environ.* 21:535–553.
- Hare PD, Cress WA, Van Staden J (1998) Dissecting the roles of osmolyte accumulation during stress. Plant Cell. Environ. 21:535-553.
- Harris MJ, Outlaw WH Jr (1991) Rapid adjustment of guard cell abscisic acid levels to current leaf-water status. Plant Physiol. 95:171–173.

- Hartung W, Sauter A, Hose E (2002) Abscisic acid in the xylem: where does it come from, where does it go. J. Exp. Bot. 53:27-32.
- Hayatu M, Mukhtar FB (2010) Physiological responses of some drought resistant cowpea genotypes [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) WALP] to water stress. Bayero Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences 3(2):69-75.
- **He JX**, Wang J, Liang G (1995) Effects of water stress on photochemical function and protein metabolism of photosystem II in wheat leaves. Physiol. Plantarum 93(4):771–777.
- Helyes L, Lugasi A, Pék Z (2012) Effect of irrigation on processing tomato yield and antioxidant components. Turk. J. Agric. For. 36:702–709.
- **Hernandez-Suarez M**, Rull-Pallares J, Domingo-Rios M, Rodriguez- Rodriguez E, Diaz-Romero C (2008) Variation of the chemical composition of tomato cultivars (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) according to resistance against the tomato yellow leaf curl virus (TYLCV). J. Sci. Food Agric. 88:1882–1891.
- **Ho LC**, Grange RI, Picken AJ (1987) An analysis of the accumulation of water and dry matter in tomato fruit. Plant Cell Environ. 10:157–162.
- Hodges L, Steinegger D (1991) Blossom end rot in tomatoes. Nebraska Cooperative Extension NF91-43, Lincoln, NB: University of Nebraska.
- **Hommel R,** Siegwolf R, Saurer M, Farquhar GD, Kayler Z, Ferrio JP, Gessler A (2014) Drought response of mesophyll conductance in forest understory species impacts on water-use efficiency and interactions with leaf water movement. Physiol. Plantarum 152(1):98-114.
- **Hossain MM**, Liu X, Qi X, Lam H-M, Zhang J (2014) Differences between soybean genotypes in physiological response to sequential soil drying and rewetting. The crop journal 2:366-380.
- **HoungHah** C, HonChuel L, GiBum K, JaeHan L, DongKum P, Joonkook K (1999) Effect of soil moisture, night temperature, humidity and harvesting interval on cracking fruit of cherry tomato. Journal of Korean Society for Horticultural Science 40(2):169-173.
- **HuiLian Xu,** Gautheir L, Gosselin A (1997) Greenhouse tomato photosynthetic acclimation to water deficit and response to salt accumulation in the substrate. Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticulture Science 65(4):777-784.
- Ismaiv MR, Davies WJ (2000) Leaf growth and stomatal sensitivity after water stress relief and its relation to xylem sap absicisic acid. Pertanika J. Trap. Agric. Sci. 23(2):67-73.
- Jaleel CA, Manivannan P, Lakshmanan GMA, Gomathinayagam M, Panneerselvam R (2008) Alterations in morphological parameters and photosynthetic pigment responses of *Catharanthus roseus* under soil water deficits. Colloid Surface B 61:298-303.
- Jamil M, Rehman S, Lee KJ, Kim JM, Kim H, Rha ES (2007) Salinity reduced growth PS2 photochemistry and chlorophyll content in radish. Sci. Agr. 64:111-118.
- Jin S, Chen CS, Plant AL (2000) Regulation by ABA of osmotic stress-induced changes in protein synthesis in tomato roots. Plant Cell Environ. 23:51–60.
- Johnstone PR, Hartz TK, LeStrange M, Nunez JJ, Miyao EM (2005) Managing fruit soluble solids with late-season deficit irrigation in drip-irrigated processing tomato production. Hort. Sci. 40(6):1857–1861.
- Jones HG (1974) Assessment of stomata control of plant water status. New Phytol. 73:851–859.
- Kader AA (2008) Flavor quality of fruits and vegetables. J. Sci. Food Agric. 88:1863–1868.
- Kaiser WM (1987) Effects of water deficit on photosynthetic capacity. Physiol. Plantarum 71(1):142–149.
- Kalefetoglu MT, Ekmekci Y (2009) Alterations in photochemical and physiological activities of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars under drought stress. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 195:335–346.
- Kameli A, Losel DM (1996) Growth and sugar accumulation in durum wheat plants under water stress. New Phytol. 132:57-62.
- **Kampfenkel K**, Van Montagu M, Inze D (1995) Extraction and determination of ascorbate and dehydroascorbate from plant tissue. Anal Biochem 225:165–167.
- Kavar T, Maras M, Kidric M, Sustar-Vozlic J, Meglic V (2007) Identification of genes involved in the response of leaves of *Phaseolus vulgaris* to drought stress. Mol. Breed. 21:159–172.
- Khakwani AA, Dennett MD, Munir M, Baloch MS (2012) Wheat yield response to physiological limitations under water stress condition. The Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences 22(3):773-780.
- Khalil AAM, Grace J (1993) Does xylem sap ABA control the stomatal behaviour of water-stressed sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus* L.) seedlings? J. Expt. Bot. 44:1127–1134.
- Kicheva MI, Isonev TD Popova LP (1994) Stomatal and non-stomatal limitations to photosynthesis in two wheat cultivars subjected to water stress. Photosynthetica 30:107-116.
- **Kirnak H**, Kaya C, Tas I, Higgs D (2001) The influence of water deficit on vegetative growth, physiology, fruit yield and quality in eggplants. Bulg. J. Plant Physiol. 27(3-4):34-46.

kirycz, A, Inzé D (2010) More from less: plant growth under limited water. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 21(2):197-203.

- **Knapp AK**, Briggs JM, Koelliker JK (2001) Frequency and extent of water limitation to primary production in a mesic temperate grassland. Ecosystems 4:19–28.
- Kocheva K, Georgiev G (2003) Evaluation of the reaction of two contrasting barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) cultivars in response to osmotic stress with PEG 6000. Bulgarian Journal of Plant Physiology (special issue):290–294.
- **Kulkarni M**, Deshpande U (2007) In vitro screening of tomato genotypes for drought resistance using polyethylene glycol. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 6:691-696.
- Lambrides CJ, Chapman SC, Shorter R (2004) Surveys of carbon isotope discrimination in sunflower reveal considerable genetic variation, a strong association with transpiration efficiency and evidence of cytoplasmic inheritance. Crop Sci. 44:1642–1653.
- Lapushner D, Frankel R, Fuchs Y (1986) Tomato cultivar response to water and salt stress. Acta Hortic. 190:247-252.
- Lei YB, Yin CY, Li CY (2006) Differences in some morphological, physiological and biochemical responses to drought stress in two contrasting populations of *Populus przewalskii*. Physiol. Plant. 127:182–191.
- Leila R (2007) Response of Tunisian autochthonous pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum L.*) to drought stress induced by polyethylene glycol (PEG) 6000. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 6:1102-1105.
- Lenucci MS, Cadinu D, Taurino M, Piro G, Dalessandro G (2006) Antioxidant composition in cherry and high-pigment tomato cultivars. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54:2606–2613.
- Levitt J Responses of plants to environmental stresses. In: Water, radiation, salt and other stresses Kozlowski TT ed., vol 2, 2nd edn. Academic, New York, 1980, pp. 93–186.
- Li C, Wang K. (2003) Differences in drought responses of three contrasting *Eucalyptus microtheca* F. Muell. populations. Forest Ecol. Manage. 179:377–385.
- Li J, Wang X-Q, Watson MB, Assmann SM (2000) Regulation of abscisic acid–induced stomatal closure and anion channels by guard cell AAPK kinase. Science 287:300–303.
- Liang J, Zhang J, Wong MH (1997) Can stomatal closure caused by xylem ABA explain the inhibition of leaf photosynthesis under soil drying? Photosynth. Res. 51:149–159.
- Liang Z, Zhang F, Shao M, Zhang J (2002) The relations of stomatal conductance, water consumption, growth rate to leaf water potential during soil drying and rewatering cycle of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Bot. Bull. Acad. Sin. 43:187-192.
- **Lichtenthaler HK**, Babani F (2000) Detection of photosynthetic activity and water stress by imaging the red chlorophyll fluorescence. Plant Physiol. Bioch. 38:889-895.
- Liu F, Stutzel H (2004) Biomass partitioning, specific leaf area, and water use efficiency of vegetable maranth (Amaranthus spp.) in response to water stress. Sci. Hortic. 102:15–27.
- Liu XY, Luo YP, Shi YC (2001) The stimulating effects of rewatering in subjecting to water stress on leaf area of winter wheat. Sci. Agr. Sin. 34:422-428.
- Lobet G, Couvreur V, Meunier F, Javaux M, Draye X (2014) Plant water uptake in drying soils. Plant Physiol. 164:1619-1627.
- Losada HP, Rineon R (1994) Influence of the crop water status on fruit setting and final fruit number in the processing tomato crop. Acta Hortic. 376:333-336.
- Lu P, Woo K-C, Liu Z-T (2002) Estimation of whole-plant transpiration of bananas using sap flow measurements. J. Exp. Bot. 53:1771-1779.
- Luthria DL, Mukhopadhyay S, Krizek DT (2006) Content of total phenolics and phenolic acids in tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) fruits as influenced by cultivar and solar UV radiation. J Food Compos. Anal. 19:771–777.
- Lutts S, Majerus V, Kinet JM (1999) NaCl effects of proline metabolism in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) seedlings. Physiol. Planarum 105:450-458.
- Macar TK, Turan O, Ekmekcy Y (2009) Effects of water deficit induced by PEG and NaCl on chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars and lines at early seedling stages. Gazy University Journal of Science 22(1):5.
- **Madrid R**, Barba EM, Sánchez A, Garcia, AL (2009) Effects of organic fertilisersand irrigation level on physical and chemical quality of industrial tomato fruit (*cv*. Nautilus). J. Sci. Food Agr. 89:2608–2615.
- Mahajan G, Singh KG (2006) Response of greenhouse tomato to irrigation and fertigation. Agric. Water Manage. 84: 202–206.
- Mahajan S, Tuteja N (2005) Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 444:139-158.
- Malundo TMM, Shewfelt RL, Scott JW (1995) Flavor quality of fresh tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill) as affected by sugar and acid levels. Postharvest Biology and Technology 6:103–110.
- Marler TE, Mickelbart MV (1998) Drought, leaf gas exchange, and chlorophyll fluorescence of field-grown papaya. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 123:714–718.

- Marouelli WA, Silva WLC (2007) Water tension thresholds for processing tomatoes under drip irrigation in Central Brazil. Irrigat. Sci. 25:411–418.
- **Marouelli WA**, Silva WLC, Moretti CL (2004) Production, quality, and water use efficiency of processing tomato as affected by the final irrigation timing. Hortic. Bras. 22(2):226–231.
- Martinez-Valverde I, Periago MJ, Provan G, Chesson A (2002) Phenolic compounds, lycopene and antioxidant activity in commercial varieties of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*). J. Sci. Food Agric. 82:323–330.
- Massonnet EC, Serge R Erwin D, Regnard JL (2007) Stomatal regulation of photosynthesis in apple leaves: evidence for different water-use strategies between two cultivars Catherine. Ann. Bot. 100(6):1347-1356.
- **Matsui T,** Singh BB (2003) Root characteristics in cowpea related to drought tolerance at the seedling stage. Exp. Agric. 39:29–38.
- **Matsuzoe N**, Zushi K, Johjima T (1998) Effect of soil water deficit on coloring and carotene formation in fruits of red, pink and yellow type cherry tomatoes. Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticulture Science 67(4):600–606.
- **Matsuzoe N**, Zushi K, Johjima T (1998) Effect of soil water deficit on coloring and carotene formation in fruits of red, pink, and yellow type cherry tomatoes. Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science 67(4):600-606.
- Medrano H, Escalona JM, Bota J, Gulias J, Flexas J (2002) Regulation of photosynthesis in C3 plants in response to progressive drought: stomatal conductance as a reference parameter. Ann. Bot. 8:895–905.
- Medrano H, Escalona JM, Bota J, Gulías J, Flexas J (2002) Regulation of photosynthesis of C3 plants in response to progressive drought: stomatal conductance as a reference parameter. Ann. Bot. 89:895-905.
- **Meyer S,** Genty B (1998) Mapping intercellular CO₂ mole fraction (Ci) in rosa rubiginosa leaves fed with abscisic acid by using chlorophyll fluorescence imaging. Significance of ci estimated from leaf gas exchange. Plant Physiol. 116(3): 947-957.
- **Meyre D**, Leonardi A, Brisson G, Vartanian N (2001) Drought-adaptive mechanisms involved in the escape/tolerance strategies of Arabidopsis Landsberg erecta and Columbia ecotypes and their F1 reciprocal progeny. J. Plant Physiol. 158:1145-1152.
- Mitchell JP, Shennan C, Grattan SR (1991) Developmental changes in tomato fruits composition in response to water deficit and salinity. Physiol. Plantarum 83:177–185.
- **Miyashita K**, Tanakamaru S, Maitani T, Kimura K (2005) Recovery responses of photosynthesis, transpiration, and stomatal conductance in kidney bean following drought stress. Environmental and Experimental Botany 53:205–214.
- Miyashita K, Tanakamaru S, Maitani T, Kimura K (2005) Recovery responses of photosynthesis, transpiration, and stomatal conductance in kidney bean following drought stress. Environ. Exp. Bot. 53:205–214.
- Moseki B, Dintwe K (2011) Effect of water stress on photosynthetic characteristics of two sorghum cultivars. The African Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology 5 (1):89-91.
- **Moseky B** Maximum photochemical efficiency of PSII in *Sorghum bicolor* cultivars differing in water stress tolerance. In: The 26th Annual Conference of the South African Association of Botanists, Potchefstroom, South Africa, 2000, p. 111.
- Munns R, Passioura JB, Guo J, Chazen O, Cramer GR (2000) Water relations and leaf expansion: importance of time scale. J. Exp. Bot. 51:1495-1504.
- Nahar K, Gretzmacher R (2011) Response of shoot and root development of seven tomato cultivars in hydrophonic system under water stress. Academic Journal of Plant Sciences 4 (2):57-63.
- Naotke M, Zushi K, Johjima T (1998) Effect of soil water deficit on coloring and carotene formation in fruits of red, pink, and yellow type cherry tomatoes. Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science 67(4):600-606.
- Naphade AS (1993) Effect of water regime on the quality of tomato. Maharashtra J. Hortic. 7(2):55-60.
- Nardini A, Salleo S, Raimondo F (2003) Changes in leaf hydraulic conductance correlate with leaf vein embolism in *Cercis siliquastrum* L. Trees. Structure and Function 17:529–534.
- Niinemats U (2002) Stomatal conductance alone does not explain the decline in foliar photosynthetic rates with increasing tree age and size in *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris*. Tree Physiol. 22:515-535.
- Niinemets U (2001) Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. Ecology 82:453–469.
- Nishiyama R, Watanabe Y, Leyva-Gonzalez MA, Van Ha C, Fujita Y, Tanaka M, Seki M, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K, Herrera-Estrella L, Tran LS (2013) Arabidopsis AHP2, AHP3, and AHP5 histidine phosphotransfer proteins function as redundant negative regulators of drought stress response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110:4840-4845.
- Nonami H, Fukuyama T, Yamamoto M, Yang L, Hashimoto Y (1995) Blossom-end rot of tomato plants may not be directly caused by calcium deficiency. Acta Hortic. 396:107–114.
- Nyabundi JO, Hsiao TC (1989) Effects of water stress on growth and yield of field grown tomatoes. I: Canopy development and biomass accumulation. East Afr. Agric. For. J. 55:17-26.

- **Ober ES**, Setter TL, Madison JT, Thompson JF, Shapiro PS (1991) Influence of water deficit on maize endosperm development: enzyme activities and RNA transcripts of starch and zein synthesis, abscisic acid, and cell division. Plant Physiol. 97:154–164.
- **Ogbonnaya CI**, Sarr B, Brou C, Diouf O, Diop NN, Macauley HR (2003) Selection of cowpea genotypes in hydroponics, pots, and field for drought tolerance. Crop Sci. 43:1114–1120.
- **Ort DR**, Oxborough K, Wise R Depressions of photosynthesis in crops with water deficits. In: Baker NR, Bowyer JR (Eds.) Photoinhibition of Photosyn-thesis: From Molecular Mechanisms to Field. BIOS Scientific Publishers, Oxford 1994, pp. 315–329.
- **Osakabe Y**, Kajita S, Osakabe K (2011) Genetic engineering of woody plants: current and future targets in a stressful environment. Physiol. Plant. 142:105–117.
- **Ozbahce A**, Tari AF (2010) Effects of different emitter space and water stress on yield and quality of processing tomato under semi-arid climate conditions. Agric. Water Manage. 97:1405–1410.
- **Patane C**, Cosentino SL (2010) Effects of soil water deficit on yield and quality of processing tomato under a Mediterranean climate. Agric. Water Manage. 97:131–138.
- Pék Z, Szuvandzsiev P, Daood H, Neményi A, Helyes L (2014) Effect of irrigation on yield parameters and antioxidant profiles of processing cherry tomato. Cent. Eur. J. Biol. 9(4):383.
- **Pernice R**, Parisi M, Giordano I, Pentangelo A, Graziani G, Gallo M, Fogliano V, Ritieni A (2010) Antioxidants profile of small tomato fruits: Effect of irrigation and industrial process. Sci. Hortic. 126:156-163.
- **Piro G,** Leucci MR, Waldron K, Dalessandro G (2003) Exposure to water stress causes changes in the biosynthesis of cell wall polysaccharides in roots of wheat cultivars varying in drought tolerance. Plant Sci. 165:559–569.
- **Plant AL**, Cohen A, Moses MS, Bray EA (1991) Nucleotide sequence and spatial expression pattern of a drought- and abscisic acid-induced gene of tomato. Plant Physiol. 97:900 906.
- **Pulupol LU**, Behboudian MH, Fisher KJ (1996) Growth, yield and post-harvest attributes of glasshouse tomatoes produced under deficit irrigation. Hort. Sci. 31:926–929.
- **Quaglietta Chiaranda F**, Zerbi G (1981) Effect of irrigation regimes on yield and water consumption of greenhouse tomato grown in lysimeters. Acta Hortic. 119:179-190.
- Quarrie SA (1981) Genetic variability and heritability of drought-induced abscisic acid accumulation in spring wheat. Plant Cell Environ. 4 (2):147–151.
- Quarrie SA, Jones HG (1979) Genotypic variation in leaf water potential, stomatal conductance and abscisic acid concentration in spring wheat subjected to artificial drought stress. Ann. Bot. 44 (3):323-332.
- **Rahman SML**, Nawata E, Sakuratani T (1999) Effect of water stress on growth, yield and eco-physiological responses of four (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill) tomato cultivars. J. Japan. Soc. Hort. Sci. 68(3):499-504.
- **Ramalan AA**, Nwokeocha CU (2000) Effects of furrow irrigation methods, mulching and soil water suction on the growth, yield and water use efficiency of tomato in the Nigerian Savanna. Agr. Water Manage. 45:317–33.
- Ramanjulu S, Sreenivasulu N, Sudhacar C (1998) Effect of water stress on photosynthesis in two mulberry genotypes with different drought tolerance. Photosynthetica 35(2):279-283.
- Ranganna S Manual analysis of fruits and vegetable products. New Delhi: Tata Mc Graw Hill publishing Co. Ltd, 1995.
- Rao NKS, Bhatt RM Sadashiva AT (2000) Tolerance to water stress in tomato cultivars. Photosynthetica 38:465 467.
- **Razmjoo K**, Heydarizadeh P, Sabzalian MR (2008) Effect of salinity and drought stresses on growth parameters and essential oil content of *Matricaria chamomile*. Int. J. Agri. Biol. 10:451-454.
- **Riggi E**, Patanè C, Ruberto G (2008) Carotenoid content at different ripening stages in processing tomato in relation to soil water availability. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 59:348–353.
- **Rucker KS**, Kvien CK, Holbrook CC, Hook JE (1995) Identification of peanut genotypes with improved drought avoidance traits. Peanut Sci. 24:14-18.
- **Rudich J,** Kalmar D, Geizenberg C, Harel S (1977) Low water tensions in defined growth stages of processed tomato plants and their effects on yield and quality. J. Hortic. Sci. 52:391–399.
- Sanders DC, Howell TA, Hile MMS, Hodges L, Meek O, Phene CJ (1989) Yield and quality of processing tomatoes in response to irrigation rate and schedule. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 114(6):904-908.
- Saure MC (2001) Blossom-end rot of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) a calcium or a stress-related disorder? Sci. Hortic. 90:193–208.
- Schachtman DP, Goodger JQD (2008) Chemical root to shoot signaling under drought. Trends Plant Sci. 13:281–287.
- Sharkey TD (1984) Transpiration-induced changes in the photosynthetic capacity of leaves. Planta 160:143-150.

Sharkey TD (1990) Water stress effects on photosynthesis. Photosynthetica 24:651–656.

Sharma SK, Le Maguer M (1996) Lycopene in tomatoes and tomato pulp fractions. Ital. J. Food Sci. 2:107–113.

- Sharp RE, LeNoble ME (2002) ABA, ethylene and the control of shoot and root growth under water stress. J. Exp.Bot. 53:33–37.
- Sharp RE, Wu Y, Voetberg GS, Saab IN, LeNoble ME (1994) Confirmation that abscisic acid accumulation is required for maize primary root elongation at low water potentials. J. Exp. Bot. 45:1743-1751.
- Shinohara Y, Akiba K, Maruo T, Ito T (1995) Effect of water stress on the fruit yield, quality and physiological condition of tomato plants using the gravel culture. Acta Hortic. 396:211-218.
- Siddique MRB, Hamid A, Islam MS (2000) Drought stress effects on water relation of wheat. Bot. Bull. Acad. Sci. 41:35-39.
- Sinclair TR, Muchow RC (2001) Systems analysis of plant traits to increase grain yield on limited water supplies. Agron. J. 93:263–270.
- Singleton VL, Orthofer R, Lamuela-Raventos RM (1999) Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of Folin–Ciocalteu reagent. Meth. Enzymol. 299:152–178.
- Siviero P (1998) Aspetti qualitativi del pomodoro da industria. Info Agric 34:63–67.
- Smajstrla AG, Locascio SJ (1994) Irrigation cutback effects on drip-irrigated tomato yields. Proc. Fla. State Hort. Soc. 107:113-118.
- **Sofo A**, Bartolomeo Dichio B, Xiloyannis C, Masia A (2004) Effects of different irradiance levels on some antioxidant enzymes and on malondialdehyde content during rewatering in olive tree. Plant Sci. 166:293–302.
- Somerville C, Briscoe J (2001) Genetic engineering and water. Science 292:2217.
- **Sousa RP**, Machada EC, Silva JA, Lagon AMMA, Silveira JAG (2004) Photosynthetic gas exchange, chlorophyll fluorescence in cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) during water stress and recovery. Environ Exp. Bot. 51(1):45-46.
- Srivastava A, Handa AK (2005) Hormonal regulation of tomato fruit development: a molecular perspective. J. Plant. Growth Regul. 24:67–82.
- Stikic R, Popovic S, Srdic M, Savic M, Jovanovic Z, Prokic L, Zdravkovic J (2003) Partial root drying (PRD): a new technique for growing plants that saves water and improves the quality of fruit. Bulgarian Journal of Plant Physiology (Special issue):164–171.
- **Stoll M**, Loveys B, Dry P (2000) Hormonal changes induced by partial rootzone drying of irrigated grapevine. J. Exp. Bot. 51:1627–1634.
- Szabados L, Savoure A (2009) Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant Sci. 15:89-97.
- **Tang Y**, Wen X, Lu Q, Yang Z, Cheng Z, Lu C (2007) Heat stress induces an aggregation of the light-harvesting complex of photosystem II in spinach plants. Plant Physiol. 143:629-638.
- **Taylor IB** Genetics of ABA synthesis. In: Abscisic Acid: Physiology and Biochemistry. Davies WJ, Jones HG, eds, BIOS Scientific, Oxford, UK, 1991, pp. 23–37.
- Teare ID, Kanemasu ET, Powers WL, Jacobs HS (1973) Water-use efficiency and its relation to crop canopy area, stomatal regulation, and root distribution. Agron. J. 65:207–211.
- **Teraza W**, Mitchell VJ, Driscoll SD, Lawlor DW (1999) Water stress inhibits plant photosynthesis by decreasing coupling factor and ATP. Nature 401:914 917.
- **Thomas D.** Turner DW (2001) Banana (Musa sp.) leaf gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence in response to soil drought, shading and lamina folding. Sci. Hort. 90:93–108.
- Toor RK, Savage GP (2005) Antioxidant activities in different fractions of tomato. Food Res. Int. 38:487–494.
- **Turkan I,** Bor M, Ozdemir F, Koca H (2005) Differential responses of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in the leaves of drought tolerant *P. acutifolius* Gray and drought sensitive *P. vulgaris* L. subjected to polyethylene glycol mediated water stress. Plant Sci. 168:223-231.
- **Turner NC,** Wright GC, Siddique KHM (2001) Adaptation of grain legumes (pulses) to water limited environments. Adv. Agron. 71:193–271.
- Vassileva V, Signarbieux C, Anders I, Feller U (2011) Genotypic variation in drought stress response and subsequent recovery of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). J. Plant Res. 124:147–154.
- Vaz J, Sharma PK (2011) Relationship between xanthophy cycle and non-photochemical quenching in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) plants in response to light stress. Indian J. Exp. Bot. 49:60- 67.
- Veit-Kohler U, Krumbein A, Kosegarten H (1999) Effect of different water supply on plant growth and fruit quality of *Lycopersicon esculentum*. J. Plant Nut. Soil Sci.162(6):583-588.
- Wakrim R, Wahbi S, Tahi H, Aganchich B, Serraj R. (2005) Comparative effects of partial root drying (PRD) and regulated deficit irrigation (RDI) on water relations and water use efficiency in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 106:275-287.
- Wang H, Yamauchi A Growth and functions of roots under abiotic stress in soil. In: Plant–environment interactions, Huang B. (ed), 3rd edn. CRC Press, New York, 2006, pp. 271–320.

- Wang M, Cao J, Lin L, Sun J, Jiang W (2020) Effect of 1-methylcyclopropene on nutritional quality and antioxidant activity of tomato fruit (*Solanum lycopersicon* L.) during storage. J. Food Qual. 33:150–164.
- Wang Z, Huang B (2003) Genotypic variation in abscisic acid accumulation, water relations, and gas exchange for kentucky bluegrass exposed to drought stress. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. 128(3):349-355.
- Wery J, Silim SN, Knights EJ, Malhotra RS, Cousin R (1994) Screening techniques and sources and tolerance to extremes of moisture and air temperature in cool season food legumes. Euphytica 73:73-83.
- White AG, Alspach PA, Weskett RH, Brewer LR (2000) Heritability of fruit shape in pear. Euphtica 112:1-7.
- Whiteman PC, Wilson GL (1965) Effects of water stress on the productive development of *Sorghum vulgare* pers. Papers from the Department of Botany, University of Queensland 4(14):233-234.
- Wilkinson S, Davies WJ (1997) Xylem sap pH increase: a drought signal received at the apoplastic face of the guard cell that involves the suppression of saturable abscisic acid uptake by the epidermal symplast. Plant Physiol. 113:559-573.
- Wilkinson S, Davies WJ (2002) ABA-based chemical signaling: the co-ordination of responses to stress in plants. Plant, Cell Environ. 25:195-21.
- **Wu Y**, Cosgrove D J (2000) Adaptation of roots to low water potentials by changes in cell wall extensibility and cell wall proteins. J. Exp. Bot. 51:1543-1553.
- **Wu Y,** Cosgrove DJ (2000) Adaptation of roots to low water potentials by changes in cell wall extensibility and cell wall proteins. J. Exp. Bot. 51:1543-1553.
- Xie Y, Mao Y, Zhang W, Lai D, Wang Q, Shen W (2014) Reactive oxygen species dependent nitric oxide production contributes to hydrogen-promoted stomatal closure in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 165:759 773.
- Xu ZZ, Zhou GS (2007) Photosynthetic recovery of a perennial grass *Leymus chinensis* after different periods of soil drought. Plant Prod. Sci. 10:277-285.
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2006) Transcriptional regulatory networks in cellular responses and tolerance to dehydration and cold stresses. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 57:781–803.
- Yamauchi A, Pardales Jr JR, Kono Y Root system structure and its relation to stress tolerance. In: dynamics of roots and nitrogen in cropping systems of semi-arid tropics. Ito O, et al. eds. Japan International Research Center for Agricultural Sciences, Tsukuba, 1996, pp. 211-233.
- **Zegbe JA**, Behboudian MH, Clothier BE (2006) Responses of 'petopride' processing tomato to partial rootzone drying at different phonological stages. Irrig. Sci. 24:203–210.
- **Zegbe JA**, Behboudian MH, Lang A, Clothier BE (2003) Deficit irrigation and partial rootzone drying maintain fruit dry mass and enhance fruit quality in 'Petopride' processing tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.). Sci Hort 98:505–510.
- **Zegzouti H,** Jones B, Marty C, Lelievre J-M, Latch A, Pech J-C, Bouzayen M (1997) ER5, a tomato cDNA encoding an ethylene-responsive LEA-like protein: characterization and expression in response to drought, ABA and wounding. Plant Mol. Biol. 35:847 854.
- **Zhang J,** Davies WJ (1987) Increased synthesis of ABA in partially dehydrated root tips and ABA transport from root to leaves. J Expt. Bot. 38:2015–2023.
- **Zhang J**, Davies WJ (1989) Sequential response of whole plant water relations to prolonged soil drying and the involvement of xylem sap ABA, in the regulation of stomatal behaviour in sunflower plants. New Phytol. 113:167–174.
- **Zhang J**, Davies WJ (1990) Changes in the concentration of ABA in the xylem sap as a function of changing soil water status can account for changes in leaf conductance and growth. Plant Cell Environ.13:271–285.
- **Zhang J**, Jia W, Yang J, Ismail AM (2006) Role of ABA in integrating plant responses to drought and salt stresses. Field Crop Res. 97:111–119.
- **Zhang J,** Schuir U, Davies WJ (1987) Control of stomatal behaviour by abscisic acid which apparently originates in the roots. J. Exp. Bot 38:1174-1181.
- Zhou K, Yu L (2006) Total phenolic contents and antioxidant properties of commonly consumed vegetables grown in Colorado. Food Sci. Technol. 39:1155–1162.
- Zlatev Z (2009) Drought-induced changes in chlorophyll fluorescence of young wheat plant. Biotechnology 23:437-441.
- **Zotarelli L**, Scholberg JM, Dukes M D, Munoz-Carpena R, Icerman J (2009) Tomato yield, biomass accumulation, root distribution and irrigation water use efficiency on a sandy soil, as affected by nitrogen rate and irrigation scheduling. Agr. Water Manage. 9(6):23–34.
- Zushi K, Matsuzoe N (1998) Effect of soil water deficit on vitamin C, sugar, organic acid, and amino acid and carotene contents of large-fruited tomatoes. Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticulture Science 67(6):927-933.